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MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning.  We are here today to begin the next phase of this proceeding to consider the methodology for determining the values of cost of capital structure and deemed capital structure that will be used to set rates for electricity distributors, electricity transmitters, natural gas utilities, and Ontario Power Generation.

The OEB will also be determining in the decision the interest rate and other matters associated with the cloud computing deferral account.

My name is Michael Janigan.  I am the Presiding Commissioner in this proceeding.  With me on this panel on my left is Commissioner Lynne Anderson, and on my right is Commissioner Pankaj Sardana.

Before we provide the land acknowledgement, I will speak briefly to the anticipated course of this proceeding.  I believe a schedule has been circulated that provides for a hearing that is scheduled to last six days.  It will encompass testimony from four experts in the analysis of issues that must be determined.  We expect the time estimates will be adhered to.

Having been on the other side of the dais for most of my career, I also know that adherence is often dependent on the responsiveness of the witness to the efficiency of the questioner.  So everyone should try to stay within the time limits, given the fact that we have a six-day schedule that ends at 4 o'clock on the sixth day.  At the same time, please speak clearly and try as much as possible to refrain from speaking too quickly, to enable the reporter to transcribe accurately.

Can we please have the land acknowledgement.
Land Acknowledgement


MR. JOHNSON:  Good morning.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can we please now have appearances, starting with...
Appearances


MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Ian Richler, counsel for OEB Staff, and I am joined by Fiona O'Connell, the case manager, and Tina Li, manager regulatory accounting.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  Can we start at the bottom row here?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  Hi, my name is Laurie Gluck, and I am here on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. DAUBE:  Good morning.  Nick Daube, here for --


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, I was just going to -- good morning, Mr. Gluck.

MR. DAUBE:  That's okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Just acknowledging him, that's all.

MR. DAUBE:  Nick Daube, here for Three Fires Group and Minogi Corp.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, sir, Commissioners.  Ian Mondrow, I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association, and, in this matter, the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario, AMPCO.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBY:  Peter Ruby and Sarah Stothart, we are here as counsel for the Electricity Distributors Association.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Ruby and Ms. Stothart.

MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Commissioners.  It's Crawford Smith.  I am here with my colleague Tyler Morrison, and we are here on behalf of the OEA.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Smith and Mr. Morrison.

MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Colin Anderson, with the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  I would also like to register appearances by John Vellone from Borden Ladner Gervais, who is our counsel, as well as Colm Boyle, also from BLG.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning Mr. Anderson, Mr. Vellone, and Mr. Boyle.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Janigan, I could also enter an appearance.  It is Dennis O'Leary.

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, yes, I was wondering when you were going to speak up.

MR. O'LEARY:  I have always been a little shy.

MR. JANIGAN:  Ah.

MR. O'LEARY:  But I am here on behalf of Enbridge case Gas, but I am assisting the OEA in its presentation and evidence.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  Have we run out of appearances here?

MR. GARNER:  Do you want to start at the back and go this way?

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, okay.

MR. GARNER:   Good morning, Panel.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and I will be joined from time to time -- put in an appearance for Mr. Bill Harper, who will be either online or in person over the proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Garner.  Nobody else in that row?  No?  Okay, very well.  Can we now proceed with opening statements?

MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Chair, how about online appearances?

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, sorry about that, Mr. Ladanyi.  Go right ahead.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am a consultant representing two intervenors, the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada and the Energy Probe Research Foundation.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Brophy.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Scott Pollock.  I am counsel on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and I am also putting in an appearance for my colleague, O'Neal Ishimwe, who will be cross-examining some of the witnesses.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Pollock.

MR. LI:  Good morning my name is Clement Li, representing Building Owners and Managers Association.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Li.  Good morning.  Is there anyone else that I have missed?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  Good morning, Commissioners.  I am Bohdan Dumka.  I am here representing the Society of United Professionals.  Thanks.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Dumka.  Good morning.  Okay, thanks very much.  Can we now have opening statements?  I believe the first opening statement is from the Three Fires Group.
Opening Statement by Mr. Daube


MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Again, I am Nick Daube, appearing on behalf of Minogi Corp. and Three Fires Group.  Minogi and Three Fires are regular participants in OEB proceedings and related processes, including the Indigenous Working Group that operates with Enbridge Gas.  A key priority in each of these forums has been to advance First Nations participation in the energy sector.  This is based on the belief that increasing First Nations participation can do three things:  Number one, it responds to unique Indigenous interests, rights, and legal entitlements; number two, it works towards rectifying the historical exclusion of Indigenous voice at the energy sector's decision-making tables; and number three, more broadly, it helps Ontario to build toward a more robust energy sector in a way that produces affordability, efficiency, and environmental benefits for all Ontarians.

For these reasons, the central focus of Minogi and Three Fires in this proceeding will be on the question of how the Ontario Energy Board's cost of capital methodology can support meaningful Indigenous participation and broader efficiency gains in Ontario's energy sector.  Their participation will be directed mainly toward issues 1, 13, 20, and 21, which for my clients' purposes cover the general question of whether Indigenous ownership in certain circumstances should impact the Board's approach to cost of capital, as well as the more specific question of how construction work in progress costs should be treated in cases where First Nations' equity participation is in play.

My statement today will focus mainly on those issues and be organized as follows:  First, I will begin by noting that the Board's 2009 cost of capital report includes no mention or ostensible consideration of First Nations or their interests, let alone the unique cost of capital challenges that First Nations face; nor does its 2016 review, nor do the reports from the four experts that we will hear from in this proceeding in any meaningful way.  This proceeding, therefore, building upon the faulty foundation of the 2009 report, runs the risk of carrying forward the same gaps and omissions relating to the rights and interests of First Nations that we see in the 2009 report.

Of course, there is an opportunity in this proceeding to begin to correct those shortcomings.  Much has changed in the past 15 years in terms of the advancement of the legal recognition of the rights of Indigenous Peoples and, more generally, the imperatives of reconciliation.  This proceeding therefore represent as opportunity to advance reconciliation in a way consistent with developing jurisprudence, as well as progress in the energy sector itself, and in a way that overcomes the significant gaps and oversights of our historical approaches.

The second aspect to my submissions, so what are those opportunities that we face here?  How can the Board improve on an outdated status quo to better reflect the current realities of First Nations participation in the energy sector?  My clients will argue that the current approach of using a prescribed interest rate to compensate for construction work in progress effectively blocks most First Nations from investing in regulated assets during construction.  That is because most First Nations must borrow funds at a cost that is often higher than the prescribed interest rate in order to invest in large utility projects.  This shortfall puts First Nations in an immediate loss position, at a minimum, for the duration of the construction period.  By extension, this means that for large multi-year projects, which are precisely the projects most likely to benefit from First Nations' participation, First Nations are excluded from ownership until all project decisions have been made.

Number three, the third part to my statement sets out the solution that my clients will seek to establish as the best way to solve these problems.  In short, my clients' proposed solution has two components.  Number one, First Nations investors should be entitled to a return consistent with the cost of their equity which is properly reflected in the weighted average cost of capital prescribed by the OEB.  Applying the weighted average cost of capital to construction work in progress would overcome the immediate shortfall position that the prescribed interest rate produces for most First Nation investors.

Number two, the Board should also consider adopting an approach of concurrent cost recovery, at least with respect to First Nations' equity investment.  This approach would allow project benefits to flow immediately, concurrent with construction of a project, overcoming in part the challenges that First Nations with limited access to capital can face.

The fourth segment to my submissions, I will conclude by describing the other areas where my clients expect to focus their efforts.  In particular, I will briefly describe my clients' interest in issue 13, which relates to the treatment of single asset versus multi-asset transmitters, as well as some questions related to the energy transition more generally.

So, first, for my clients the very significant context of reconciliation, increased Indigenous participation and legal entitlement more broadly.  My clients' efforts to increase First Nations participation in the energy sector should be seen in the broader context of Canada's increasing legal recognition of the rights of Indigenous Peoples, which include a growing legal recognition of Indigenous economic rights.  These rights and interests were often unrecognized in proceedings similar to this one.  Indigenous perspectives were often missing from conversations like the ones we are having here, and consideration of the impact of decisions on Indigenous Peoples was often absent.  In that sense it's important to recognize that the Board's 2009 cost of capital decision, as well as the related 2016 Staff report, likely suffered from these shortcomings.

These two documents are, of course, foundational to investment decisions in Ontario's energy sector, and have been over the past 15 years.  As well as to the question of who gets to sit at the table when those decisions [audio dropout] nevertheless, the documents contain no reference to Indigenous Peoples, nor do they contain any express consideration of the interests.

My clients wish to emphasize that huge and notable gap from the Board's work in 2009 for three main reasons: Number one, the absence of reference to or consideration of Indigenous interests in the 2009 report should serve as a reminder of the importance of not repeating historical oversights, which for First Nations are oversights that occur far too frequently even today.

Number two, my clients will also emphasize that the absence means that to the extent the Board uses the 2009 report and related policy as a foundation, in whole or in part, for its decision in the current proceeding, it will be working from a deeply flawed foundation when it comes to the interests of First Nations.

Number three, for these reasons, my clients will urge the Board to ensure that the interests and legal rights of First Nations are integrated into all aspects of its decision in a way that is consistent with Canada's rapidly advancing recognition that supporting Indigenous economic opportunity is both an expanding legal requirement and in the broader public interest.  This expanding legal recognition and practical promotion of the rights of Indigenous Peoples, and more generally the imperatives of reconciliation, provide a sharply different context for this proceeding from the context of its predecessor proceeding in 2009.

My clients will use their written submissions to set out the applicable framework and precedent in full detail but they wish to invoke a small number of examples now just to underscore how much has changed in the past 15 years in terms of increased recognition and promotion of Indigenous economic participation.  They also wish to highlight this change in context, because they believe this proceeding will show that the four expert witnesses have failed to address the advancing economic imperatives of reconciliation and Indigenous participation in any meaningful way, and they are very troubled by that omission.

This leaves my clients very concerned that the gaps of the 2009 framework will be carried forward as opposed to an approach that embraces and advances the developing legal and policy context, which increasingly requires measures in support of First Nation economic participation.  Again, my clients will elaborate on this in their final submission, so just a small number of examples here for the purposes of illustrating the point.

The first important example in the area of Indigenous economic participation is the federal United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act.  The legislation requires the Government of Canada to take all measures necessary to ensure that the laws of Canada are consistent with the declaration, which was originally adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in 2007.  For the moment this is a little-understood piece of legislation, but its significance is underscored by comments by the former justice minister responsible for the legislation, who has predicted that it will be as foundational for Canada as the Charter was in 1981 and 1982.

The declaration itself includes a large number of requirements that support Indigenous economic participation and advancement, including article 21, which is the requirement for states to take effective measures to ensure the continuing improvement of the economic and social conditions of Indigenous Peoples; article 23, which confirms the right of Indigenous Peoples to determine and develop priorities and strategies for exercising their right to development; and article 26, which confirms the right of Indigenous Peoples to own, use, and develop the lands and resources that they possess by reason of traditional ownership or other traditional occupation.

The article that is potentially the most significant for the kinds of Indigenous participation and consultation questions that the Board routinely must address is Article 32.  Article 32 sets out the requirement that states must consult and cooperate in good faith in order to obtain the free and informed consent of Indigenous Peoples prior to the approval of any project affecting their lands or territories and other resources.

The Government of Canada has recognized the importance of these provisions with statements like the following:
"The importance of free, prior and informed consent as identified in the UN declaration extends beyond title lands.  It will ensure that Indigenous Peoples and their governments have a role in public decision making as part of Canada's constitutional framework and ensure that Indigenous interests, rights and aspirations are recognized in decision making."

My clients will also argue that similar trends exist in recent jurisprudence across this country.  The Supreme Court, for example, has confirmed that Aboriginal title gives the holder the right to use, control and manage the land and the right to the economic benefits of the land and its resources.

Another illustrative example that my clients will invoke in their submissions is a recent case from the Alberta Court of Appeal, where the panel confirmed that positive economic impacts for First Nations are relevant factors for the Alberta Utility Commission to consider when evaluating questions of public interest.

My clients will likely also highlight Justice Feehan's concurring reasons from that case, which my clients believe are representative of developing trends, and especially relevant to many of the positions that my clients advocate in this forum, including in this proceeding.

Justice Feehan wrote this:
"An administrative tribunal with a broad public interest mandate such as the commission must address reconciliation as a social concept of rebuilding the relationship between Indigenous Peoples and the Crown by considering the concerns and interests of Indigenous collectives.  This includes consideration of the interests of Indigenous Peoples and participating freely in the economy and having sufficient resources to self-govern effectively."

These advancing trends are not limited to legislatures or courtrooms.  We see similar progress when it comes to increased Indigenous participation in the energy sector.

Significantly, First Nation equity participation in infrastructure projects has increased, in particular over the past 15 years, with gas, electricity generation, transmission, and distribution all exhibiting what for my clients are positive trends.

Equally significantly, the IESO long-term procurements have begun to incorporate Indigenous evaluation criteria.

And finally, the Ontario Energy Board itself has recognized the importance of supporting reconciliation efforts.  The Board's public statement two months ago celebrating National Indigenous History Month stated as follows:
"The OEB is committed to heeding the call of action for reconciliation and doing the work necessary to create a more inclusive, respectful, and sustainable energy sector.  Ontario's ability to successfully navigate the energy transition requires building meaningful, long-term and collaborative partnerships with Indigenous communities and entities, and ensuring that Indigenous perspectives are included at the earliest opportunity."

This proceeding, therefore, represents an opportunity to advance reconciliation in a way consistent with developing jurisprudence, as well as advancing industry practice and in a way that overcomes the significant gaps and oversights of our historical approaches.

My clients will propose one area in particular, where they will argue that the Board should adopt revised approaches to increase opportunities for First Nations equity participation, and then touch on briefly a couple of other areas.

So, moving to the focus of the submissions today in terms of requested changes is the prescribed interest barrier, which my clients argue is the most significant barrier in the existing cost of capital approach to increasing Indigenous participation in regulated infrastructure projects.

More specifically, my clients will seek to establish that the current approach to cost of capital significantly undermines opportunities for Indigenous investment in regulated assets during their initial construction phases.

In other words, existing cost of capital policies effectively preclude First Nations investment in regulated assets until the construction period is complete.  In effect, this means that many or all vital project decisions are made with a complete absence of First Nations' ownership and economic participation.

There are two related problems -- or, I am sorry, two related reasons why this problem exists, both of which I will elaborate on:  Number 1, the prescribed interest rate understates the true cost of investment capital for prospective First Nation investors.  Number 2, this initial problem is compounded for First Nations by the allowance for funds used during construction approach, which means that investors do not receive payment during the construction phase and must wait until a new facility is in service before they can receive payment.

Ontario's existing policy is to pay only a prescribed debt interest rate on all funds used during construction, as I am sure you are aware.  This cost of interest is added to the rate base upon the in-service date of the facility under construction; it is not charged to ratepayers during the construction phase.

Furthermore, the prescribed interest rate is set quarterly based on a market index for corporate debt of a certain credit quality, with no regard to the reality that equity capital is often employed in construction, particularly for large, multi-year construction projects.

As a result, or in short, payment does not necessarily reflect the actual cost of debt and equity used in the construction project for two main reasons.  Number 1, the prescribed interest rate is often lower than the rates actually applicable to the project; and number 2, the prescribed rate also operates on the flawed assumption that all funds used during construction are provided by lenders, meaning that no funds come from equity providers.

My clients will argue that this model likely made sense in the past, when Ontario Hydro, as the key actor, was 100 percent owned by the Ontario government, meaning that it effectively had an unlimited debt capacity.  Even after the breakup of Ontario Hydro, both Hydro One and OPG retained the same effective capacity.

While this historical policy may have made sense for those entities, it fails to reflect the cost of infrastructure investments that many actors in the sector face.  This includes not only First Nation investors, but also municipal electricity distributors who increasingly must undertake multi-year construction projects.

For First Nations, though, the prescribed interest rate can serve on its own as a complete bar to equity participation during the construction phase.  That's because most First Nations must borrow funds in order to invest in large utility projects, and the cost of those funds is often higher than the prescribed interest rate.

This puts First Nations in an immediate shortfall position, since the prescribed interest rate will not match their cost of funds for as long as the construction period lasts.  This mismatch can serve as a complete barrier, even if the First Nation is willing to forgo earning the full equity rate of return on their investment, which my clients will argue they should not be required to do.

For First Nations, the problem of an almost certain shortfall position is exacerbated by a second problem with the current policy related to the timing of access to returns.

First Nations without large pools of available capital are disadvantaged by the allowance for funds used during construction approach, since First Nations are often unable to carry the cost of investment capital until a new facility is in service, which is when they are currently entitled to begin receiving payment.

Before I move to the solution my clients expect to propose, they also wish to note that the current approach produces several disadvantages for investment projects in general, not just for First Nations.  Two they wish to mention are, number one, delaying payment often produces higher costs in the long run due to the fact that delaying payment means longer periods over which the principal incurs carrying costs; and, number two, the current approach makes it harder to attract equity investors because the total return on the full life of a project will be less than the regulated return on equity, since that equity return is not earned during construction.

So, turning to my clients' proposed solutions that they expect to advance, there are two main aspects.  Number one, projects in which First Nations are investors should be entitled to a return consistent with the weighted average cost of capital prescribed by the OEB.  This would help to overcome the immediate shortfall position that the prescribed interest rate currently produces.  Number two, the Board could also consider adopting an approach of concurrent cost recovery for these projects, at least with respect to First Nations' equity investment.  This would also help to overcome the challenges that First Nations with limited access to capital can face.  The two proposed options are complementary and represent the revised approach that my clients will likely recommend in their final submissions.

It does bear noting that a shift to a return consistent with the weighted average cost of capital would on its own represent a positive outcome for my clients, even if the Board chooses to reject an approach that incorporates concurrent cost recovery.  Such an outcome would be preferable to the status quo for my clients and would be likely to increase Indigenous equity participation during the construction phase of projects, when First Nations' involvement matters most.

Before I leave the topic, my clients wish to underscore the significant benefits that these recommended changes could offer.  The goal of increasing First Nation participation in the energy sector yields benefits for the First Nations themselves, of course, but also for Ontario more broadly.  Promoting a framework that increases the ability for First Nations to participate at a project's earliest stages means increased opportunities to share the economic benefits of infrastructure projects as well as influence project decisions as equity participants.  It also means stronger projects through the perspectives, experiences, community support, and related efficiency gains that effective First Nation participation entails.

These issues and the challenges that First Nations face take on increasing importance now, given the infrastructure projects that will take place in the coming years as part of the energy transition.  First Nations seek to play a larger role from the standpoint of equity participation, not just in the transmission and generation of projects of today but also in the growing number of renewable storage and large-scale infrastructure opportunities that they expect in the years ahead.  It's that series of pending developments that for my clients underscore the urgency of addressing these issues and the considerations that they are raising now and not as part of a future or separate proceeding.

Before I close, those issues will likely form the core of my clients' participation in these proceeding, so my remarks have focused on them, but, before concluding, they would like to mention some of the other areas where they expect they will advance positions or support the positions taken by other participants in this proceeding.

These issues can similarly be used to advance Indigenous economic participation or otherwise promote the interests of Indigenous communities.  My clients will be active on issue 13, which considers the difference between single-asset and multi-asset regulated entities.  Many First Nations invest mainly or exclusively in single-asset entities, creating a concentration risk that typical utilities do not face, given their ability to diversify risk across multiple projects.  That fact, that context, is different from the context that previous Board decisions faced on these issues.

To the extent that the Board accepts my clients' arguments in favour of supporting reconciliation and Indigenous economic participation in the energy sector, my clients will suggest that similar logic, similar arguments, apply to issue 13.  They will therefore advocate that the Board consider increasing the equity thickness applicable to single-asset utilities, consistent with the position recommended by one of the experts that provided or will provide evidence in this process, Concentric Energy Advisors.

Finally, my clients expect to include submissions relating to the energy transition as part of their final arguments.  Their interests in this area are similar to the positions that they have advanced in other OEB proceedings, in that my clients believe that the Board should take every opportunity to ensure that the major actors in Ontario's energy sector are properly incentivized to ensure that their activities contribute to promoting Ontario's energy landscape for the long-term benefit for all residents of this province, including First Nations.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Daube.  Next, we have opening statements from the Ontario Electricity Association, and I believe that's Mr. Smith.
Opening Statement by Mr. Smith


MR. SMITH:  It is indeed, thank you very much.  Thank you very much, Commissioners.  Let me just start by thanking the Ontario Energy Board on behalf of my client, and in particular the Coalition of Large Distributors, Enbridge, Ontario Power Generation, and Upper Canada Transmission, all of whom will be well known to this Board and are keenly interested in this proceeding.

As the Board will know, this is a significant hearing and one that presents the Board, we say, with an opportunity, an opportunity to refresh the cost of capital parameters, deemed capital structure to be used to set rates across all regulated utilities in the province, and to consider other important considerations, some of which you have heard about already but also including the methodology for determining the Board's prescribed interest rates and rate on the cloud computing variance account.

The last time the Board considered these matters was in 2009, in a rigorous way, and it has now been 15 years.  This is an important time for the energy sector and the utilities regulated by this Board.  You will hear in this proceeding from a variety of experts, all of whom have submitted reports.

No expert, I expect to submit to you at the end of the proceeding, has the same depth and level of experience as Concentric in analyzing the cost of capital for regulated utilities in this province and across North America.  They were there in 2009 and bring a continuity and depth of experience that I say respectfully the other experts do not have the benefit of.  I expect you will hear from Concentric, and I expect at the end of this proceeding we will argue that the current formula to set the cost of capital parameters requires updating, that, based on their professional judgment and considering the application of multiple methodologies, the ROE should be increased to a base rate of 10 percent, which would then be subject to adjustment going forward, according to a formula they have proposed.  And I expect that at the end of this proceeding we will say that the same is true of the equity ratio, that this too requires updating, and if the Board considers, as Concentric did, other similarly situated utilities across North America, it cannot but conclude that the existing deemed equity ratios are too low.  And taken together, the ROE and the equity ratios do not meet the fair return standard which, as the Board will know, is a legal requirement.  Along with the other recommendations you have heard from, or no doubt will hear from and have probably read about from Concentric, we say that taken together, these recommendations will provide Ontario's utilities with continued capital at reasonable rates, are fair to all participants in the energy sector, allow utilities to address current challenges and those that are foreseeable in the future, including energy transition.  Thank you very much.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Next I have for opening statements, I have the EDA, and I believe that will be either Mr. Ruby or Ms. Stothart.
Opening Statement by Mr. Ruby


MR. RUBY:  Yes, I will take that one for the moment.  I should mention that also here for the EDA is Teresa Sarkesian, who you'll know is president of the EDA, and Ted Wigdor, who is the vice president of the EDA.

For my few minutes I am only going to speak to you about two subjects.  You have heard the presentation day presentation from the experts, you know what their view is, you know what their bottom line is, and you know why they have arrived at the conclusions they did, so I am going to do something else so you don't have to hear it again.  So, the two things I want to talk about are one of the two EDA experts and do something similar to what my friend Mr. Smith did, is try and help you with what special circumstances or experience he brings to this, and not wanting to take away from Concentric's history with this, which we acknowledge, but there are other important factors too.  And the second thing is try and give you a few signposts, so as you listen to the evidence that you are going to hear in cross-examination in the few days and you read what you have already read I am sure in the reports, you have a few things to think about that might help keep you on the path towards what we say is the right answer.

So, starting with the EDA's experts, obviously the Staff has told us we don't need to qualify the experts so I am not going to do that, but I do want to draw your attention to unique expertise here of one of the experts, Dr. Frank Pampush, who is here for the EDA.  And it's not that I want to point out he has a PhD, which he has, right?  You know that's great, it's his specific areas of expertise and how they are related and important to this proceeding.  So, his PhD is in economics and it won't surprise you to hear me say that many of the subjects that are clearly controversial in this proceeding are questions of economics; that is, for example, what are the strengths and weaknesses of each of three economic models for ROE that have been put before you.  So, he is a perfect fit to help you through that element.  But that's not the end of it.  There are also some other key subjects that the experts disagree about, which I'd say, and this is specifically with respect to ROE, there are a lot of issues but focusing for the moment on ROE.  Two of the subjects that are important are data analysis and econometrics, you are going to hear a lot about formulas and data sets.  And those are areas that you will see that, of the experts who have tendered CVs to you, he is the only one with skills that he has put forward on his CV in econometrics and data analysis.  And he is here because those subjects are of particular importance, I hope, to you in evaluating what you are being told, because you have read and you are going to hear, I am sure, that some of the experts talk about how they applied their skill and judgment, which is, of course, important to what experts do.  But since the key ROE subjects relate to economics, econometrics and data analysis, you are going to hear from me in closing submissions that you should give more weight to Dr. Pampush's opinion on those subjects because he is the only one who has listed those subjects as areas of expertise on his CV.

So, then, if I turn to the second subject which is really to try and give you six signposts to help stay on the right road.  The first one is that, it may be a little bit obvious what we are stating, which is that this proceeding is about setting a deemed ROE for use by the Board in other proceedings.  That is, it's not about determining an actual ROE for a particular utility, it doesn't involve questioning whether a particular utility is going to raise equity or debt in any particular amount for any particular project at any particular time, it's much higher level than that.  It's about what return investors in the future, not in the past, but in the future can fairly expect from investment, their investment in Ontario energy utilities.  And when I say "fair," despite the fact that I am here for the EDA, I actually mean fair to utilities and customers and the people of Ontario.  It encompasses all of it.

Which brings me to the second signpost I'd suggest could be of help to you, which is clearly the fair return standard is the lodestar for this Board establishing ROE and, of course, it's based on fairness to everyone involved.  And it seems, from the reports at least, that all the parties who've put in reports are aligned on what are the requirements of the FRS standard, and that it is a mandatory legal standard, so we sort of, hopefully are past, sort of, that legal aspect.  But there is a corollary to the FRS that I don't think gets called out well and it's worth mentioning, which is the corollary is, is that the Board is not to consider other policy factors when it makes an ROE.  You are trying to find an ROE that meets the fair return standard, not implement other policy goals.  And those other policy goals, it's not that they are not important, they are just not for today.  They may be involved when you actually set rates for particular utilities, but today we are just trying to figure out what the deemed ROE should be in conformance with the fair return standard.

And so, examples of some of the things that would not be part of this proceeding are the impact on future rates of a utility that they are going to charge customers, whether smaller utility should be considered or encouraged to merge, I saw that came up on presentation day, which is why I mention it.

Another subject that came up is the absolute number of dollars that a utility will make or lose depending on what percentage return on capital is approved.  It's out of the scope, the past experience of a few utilities you have heard about in interrogatory responses with raising equity or debt.  That's not the key to this because, of course, the FRS is forward looking, it's not about the past.  And so, I say if in listening to the evidence you find yourself wondering well, what's the particular relevance of something you are being told, I would suggest you should always bring back in your mind how it's relevant to the FRS, if it is obviously you should consider it, and if it is not it's to be discarded.

The third signpost I would suggest is helpful is clearly under the FRS a review of comparables is important, you have had a lot of evidence about that, and, of course, reasonable people can differ about whether a specific jurisdiction or utility has utilities that are comparable to Ontario, so reasonable people can differ about that.  But that does not mean anything goes.  There are some signposts to help you, and I will give you some examples.  So, an approach to comparables that's internally inconsistent should be rejected.

So, for example, one cannot say only Canadian utilities are comparable to Ontario utilities, but then include utilities that have a Canadian head office but their operations and revenues largely come from the United States.  That's internally inconsistent, and you will recognize that is drawn from some evidence Dr. Cleary has provided to you and it's a problem.

Another example is that the correct approach should take into account the capital markets in which Ontario utilities compete for capital.  After all, one of the elements of the FRS is attracting capital.  So you need to think like an investor in the relevant capital market, and you have considerable evidence about the capital markets in Canada and the United States.  But you don't have that evidence about the capital markets in the UK, for example, or Australia.

You have evidence about their electricity systems, not their capital markets and how they relate to the North American capital market, and that's an example, I would say, of where LEI has proposed to take you off-roading, away from North America.

The fourth signpost is that modelling reality is really hard to do.  And so the more established methodologies you use and the more reliable datasets you use in your analysis, the more likely you are to find a result, an ROE result that's realistic.  And that takes into account that all the models have flaws.  Everybody is going to be able to cross-examine and say this methodology is flawed, that one is flawed.  But the exercise is not to find the one best model, it's not to find the one best dataset to use.  But that would be like painting a landscape with only your favourite colour.

Of course, when we use many colours, we achieve a better representation of reality, which is what modelling is all about.

The fifth one, and I have only got six, and this is an easy one:  I say to you avoid outliers and embrace tools that help you identify commonalities among the results that the experts are proposing.

For example, I say beware of the expert who says he is right and every other regulator is wrong.  And on the positive side, I say you can take confidence in confidence intervals, which you heard about on presentation day, because they give you a reasoned basis to identify when expert opinions are clustering together, and so you can find them more reliable.

And finally, please keep the energy transition in mind.  Some of us might disagree on when exactly electricity loads are going to spike up.  No one knows for sure how big that spike is going to be, but the IESO and government have clearly shown that they see the spike coming, that spike in load or demand, which means utilities start -- need to start building now, or soon, so that they will be able to serve those increased loads in the future when they arrive.  And that of course means more capital spending.  Again, nobody can predict exactly how much, exactly when, but it's clearly coming and coming soon.

And there are risks associated with the energy transition; the Board has identified them in other matters and proceedings.  And I say, when it comes to energy transition, probably the most important signpost I can give you on this is to just please be extra careful with your application of the fair return standard when you are setting ROEs.  That is -- and not just ROEs, but the whole cost of capital, because choosing the cost of capital in this environment of risk and uncertainty and transition is particularly important.

Now is not the time to take a risk with an ROE that's at the high end of the range or the low end of the range that you've been presented with.  It's not the time to cut out longstanding aspects of the ROE analysis, like using multiple models or flotation costs.  It is not the time to cut them out.

And finally, it is the time to be cautious with this particular exercise in this area of risk and transition and uncertainty, and stay on the right path.

And those are the EDA's opening submissions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Ruby.  Next, I believe, we have Mr. Rubenstein on behalf of SEC.
Opening Statement by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.

The School Energy Coalition welcomes this opportunity to appear before you at this hearing, in this generic hearing regarding cost of capital. This is the first full review of cost of capital matters in almost 15 years.

In any OEB rate framework, be it for electricity distributors, transmitters, natural gas distributors or Ontario Power Generation, the cost of debt and the return on equity make up a significant portion of the revenue requirements, rates or payment amounts that are ultimately borne by customers.

At the same time, SEC recognizes it is part of setting just and reasonable rates and, when determined fairly and appropriately, the costs of capital are legitimate and even important costs for customers to pay.  The key is that the amounts are determined appropriately and fairly.

The evidence in this proceeding provides you with different perspectives, which will be explored during this forthcoming hearing.  But what is clear to SEC in reading the expert reports and the responses to interrogatories and the information at the presentation day is that, again, and particularly, evidence sponsored by the utilities, is that the proposals are one-sided, ignore reality, and propose increases to ROE and the capital structure itself that would not meet the fair return standard.

Their proposals represent a return significantly higher than what investors expect.  A fair return must be fair to the utilities but also to customers.

The energy sector has undoubtedly evolved since the OEB's consultation on cost of capital in 2009 that led to the OEB's report on cost of capital for Ontario's regulated utilities.  There is an impact now in setting the cost of capital policy, and parameters is an important way for which you will have to decide in this proceeding:  how to take into account the energy transition.

Concentric, on behalf of Ontario's largest regulated utilities of all types, and Nexus, on behalf of the distribution sector, specifically the Ontario electricity distribution sector, specifically, between themselves have proposed significant increases in the base return on ROE calculation, increases in the equity thickness as part of the capital structure, and a number of other changes with respect to calculation of CWIP and DVA balances.  All, and maybe not surprisingly, involve higher recovery from customers.

Concentric's recommendations on ROE and the capital structure impacts for its CLD-plus members, excluding Ontario Power Generation, are estimated based on their estimates of $460 million a year.  The number will be substantially increased when you add in all the other electricity distributors, other utilities and ultimately Ontario Power Generation, when it rebases.

Applying Nexus's proposed ROE, which is even higher, would obviously significantly increase those costs further.

Reading the utilities-sponsored evidence, one is struck by the view that each type of utility, regardless of it being electricity or natural gas, are facing risks that are substantially increased compared to what had previously been the case, and primarily as a result of electrification and the energy transition.  And the regulatory tools that the OEB has put in place since 2009 have done little, if anything.

The truth is very different.  While the energy transition has undoubtedly increased the risk, specifically for natural gas utilities, the OEB just reviewed in a lengthy oral hearing last year in which four experts appeared in multiple days of oral hearing.

But for electricity distributors, it is different.  And, for them, it is not -- it is a benefit and an opportunity.

Since 2009, OEB policy, the impact of the renewed regulatory framework for electricity, the addition of custom IR rate setting, the expansion of the ICM, the introduction of the ACM approaches to reduce regulatory lag, fixing electricity -- fixed electricity distribution rates for residential customers, the plethora of DVAs that have generically been approved, and approved in various custom IR proceedings, have never been reflected in the OEB's cost of capital, specifically the appropriate capital structure.

The OEB has the opportunity to change that, and that's what SEC will ultimately be advocating for.

While it is easy to get lost in the technical evidence, and I have done that myself in preparation, SEC asks the OEB to keep the following questions in mind as they hear the evidence over the next six hearing days:  Do the experts' theory and methodology, and ultimately their outcomes for determining cost of capital, actually reflect reality?  Do they reflect what utilities are actually going through?  Does it reflect how utilities look at their own business?  Do the comparators that you are being provided with, with respect to setting the ROE in the capital structure, actually reflect the utilities in which we are currently in this proceeding determining the appropriate ROE in the capital structure?  Does the evidence reflect how investors actually look at utility equity and debt?  Is that actually how it's perceived?  And does the evidence reflect what is actually happening in the broader capital markets?

It would seem to us that only Dr. Cleary has provided evidence about what actually investors look at and what they look for.

Mr. Ruby, just now on behalf of the EDA, just told you not to look at the experience of some utilities in raising capital.  I say that you should do the exact opposite of that.  It's very important that you consider the actual, what is actually happening, how actual utilities that you regulate are raising capital and issues or issues they don't have.  That's an important perspective in determining the appropriate amount.

Finally, SEC wishes to note that, while this hearing including our cross-examinations are likely to be limited to some of the larger-impact issues, that should not take away from any of the other important issues and that often require parties to grapple with in good faith in applications, especially many of the distributor cost of service applications that come before you, the OEB, every year.

The OEB's decision in this proceeding is an opportunity to provide guidance and clarification on some of the many less high-profile issues, such as questions related to the deemed long-term debt rate, issues regarding affiliate debt, the treatment of notional debt, among others, issues that may be less of an issue for the largest utilities but ultimately end up being often an issue of contention or misunderstanding amongst the many small and medium utility distributor applications in which SEC participates ultimately before the Board.

SEC looks forward to participating over the next couple of weeks in this important hearing, and we thank you very much for this time.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.  Next, I have Mr. Gluck from CCC.
Opening Statement by Mr. Gluck


MR. GLUCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  I appreciate the opportunity to make a brief opening statement today on behalf of the Consumers' Council of Canada.  The issues that the OEB is addressing in this proceeding are very important to customers, and the rate implications of the expected proposals are significant, as SEC just noted in its opening statement.

The OEB stated in its 2009 report that the role of the regulator is to accurately determine the opportunity cost of capital to ensure an efficient amount of investment incurs in the public interest.  There is no question that the determination of an ROE that meets the fair-return standard is a difficult exercise, so the experts go about it using a few different approaches.  It is the inputs to these approaches that drive the difference in the results.

It is our view that Nexus, Concentric, and LEI have all made similar mistakes.  In their estimates, they are considering the returns of holding companies that bear little resemblance to Ontario's regulated utilities and have overly relied on US market data.  The peer companies used in their analyses do not have similar or like risk to Ontario utilities for reasons that include owning and operating large generation fleets, which in some cases include coal-fired generation; they derive revenues from much riskier unregulated businesses; and they operate regulated businesses in jurisdictions that do not offer the same regulatory options that are available in Ontario.

We understand why Nexus, Concentric, and LEI have used these peer groups.  It is simply because these were the closest comparators they were able to find.  These experts built peer groups on the premise that a large sample is better.  And this would be true if the peers were actually comparable, but, as Dr. Cleary described it well, comparing apples to more oranges doesn't help.

So what do you do if you don't have a proper set of companies to compare against?  We believe that the better approach is Dr. Cleary's, which broadly considers expected returns in the Canadian market, which is where these utilities operate and, more importantly, access capital.  And then he thoughtfully adjusts for the relative risk of Ontario utilities to the average risk of the companies in the market.

We note that Concentric and Nexus have provided the allowed ROEs in other jurisdictions and have even used those allowed ROEs as an input to the risk premium calculations.  The logic of using authorized ROEs from other jurisdictions in the calculation of risk premiums is circular and not appropriate.  But, more importantly, the purpose of showing the OEB the authorized ROEs in other jurisdictions is an attempt to set guideposts that they suggest the OEB must work within.

We suggest that it is more important to focus on the facts of the matter in Ontario.  Since 2009, when the base ROE was last set, the OEB's policies have significantly de-risked utilities.  For example, there are now multiple options for capital cost recovery between rebasings, and there are now deferral and variance accounts that capture cost variances for nearly every category of potential change outside a utility's control, that occur during an incentive rate-making term.

For these reasons, Ontario is considered one of the most credit-supportive jurisdictions in North America, and, considering this, we say the OEB can and should lead the way by moving below the bound of other jurisdictions' authorized ROEs, in line with the recommendations of Dr. Cleary.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Gluck.  Next, I have Mr. Mondrow from IGUA and AMPCO.
Opening Statement by Mr. Mondrow


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  In preparing for this proceeding and reading the voluminous evidence, it struck me that there is an awful lot of arcane theory and analysis in this sort of evidence.  That perception is no doubt partly because I am a lawyer, among for other reasons a lack of facility with numbers.  But it does seem to me that in these matters there is more to the striking complexity of it all than just my mathematical handicap. That inordinate complexity has been laid before you in all of its fulsome detail -- and, lest there be any doubts, I use the term "fulsome" in its sardonic sense in this context.

And, in this context, I was reflecting earlier this week that I am very glad indeed that AMPCO and IGUA, with the support of a number of the customer intervenors, were able to put before you the evidence of Dr. Sean Cleary.  Dr. Cleary you will find can go toe to toe with the very accomplished and habitually utility-sponsored cost of capital experts in all of the multi-faceted analytical detail that seems to characterize these types of proceedings.  At the same time, however, Dr. Cleary brings to the discussion a much-needed practicality and common good sense.

We will attempt to demonstrate through the balance of this proceeding there are analytical threads and loops and spirals in these discussions that seem to end in a place that from a common-sense perspective is kind of through the looking glass. We commend Dr. Cleary's perspectives on these matters to you and submit respectfully that is it incumbent upon you to consider and indeed exercise such common sense in making your determinations in this matter.

Years of utility advocacy have layered all kinds of assumptions and defaults onto this type of analysis, and it behooves you to critically question many of these assumptions and defaults when determining what is fair, no less but no more, to the utility shareholders and their customers.  Thanks very much.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Mondrow.  We will now have, from Pollution Probe, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Good morning again, Commissioners and participants.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe. I plan to be brief in our opening statements today and avoid the urge to jump into the weeds of the more than numerous details that I know we will be discussing throughout this hearing. Details are important and, as the adage goes, the devil is in the details, but it is also important to take a deep breath and step back to see the forest for the trees.

It is important to think about the broader consequences, intended or unintended, that are in play directly and indirectly via this proceeding.  Those who participated in or have read the previous OEB decisions on this matter saw that the cost of capital to a utility is in part equivalent to the aggregate return on investment that investors require in order to keep their capital invested in the utility and to invest new capital in the utility.  On face value, that seems logical and straightforward. However, why do some Ontario utilities appear quite adequate with the current approach, even though they do not consistently overearn, while others who do consistently overearn are in constant search of greater shareholder profits?

Maximizing shareholder profit for a monopoly utility is distinctly different than the objective of the fair return standard.  There are some of those forces at play in this proceeding.  I recall the fondness of a previous Energy Probe colleague, Norm Reuben, who constantly referred to the "Goldilocks principle", that is should the cost -- in this case, that would be:  Should the cost of capital and other parameters be set too high, too low, or just right?  The answer appears self-evident in this case.

What evidence is there that returns are too low to achieve their intended purpose?  I assume we are going to hear opinions on that throughout the next six days.  On the opposite side of the spectrum we see some unintended consequences where returns are set too high.

For example, the desire by some utilities to spend significantly higher amounts of capital than the OEB believes is prudent.  It is certainly a delicate balance.  Abnormally high returns also have the potential to overshadow the public interest and policy objectives that the OEB has been working so hard to achieve.  For example, we have seen cases where more cost effective integrated resource planning options and distributed energy resources have been stalled when the financial incentives to install capital overshadow other more cost effective options for ratepayers.

We have also seen a bias towards capitalization when O&M approaches are more cost effective.  The OEB has seen this bias in the repair versus replace decisions that are not always done objectively.  When net income is the highest weighting on a corporate scorecard, it drives certain behaviours.  The outcomes of this proceeding is directly linked to those challenges.  It will be difficult as parties get into the weeds to remember the broader perspective and impacts of the outcomes of this proceeding that will occur.  We encourage the panel to keep that broader context in mind.  Thank you for the opportunity to share those perspectives today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  Now, I will call on Mr. Richler from OEB Staff.
Opening Statement by Mr. Richler


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Staff enters this hearing without firmly entrenched positions.  Only after hearing all the evidence will we finalize our recommendations to the Panel of commissioners.  That said, I can share our current thinking on the overarching themes.

We agree with our expert, LEI, that 15 years on the OEB's approach to the cost of capital continues to work well.  Any changes should be, as LEI puts it, evolutionary, not revolutionary.  The assertion by the two utility experts that the current approach fails to meet the fair return standard doesn't ring true to us.  We aren't seeing evidence that Ontario utilities are having difficulty attracting capital on reasonable terms, let alone that their viability is under threat.

Still, there are some refinements that could be made.  One of them would be to dispense with the 50-basis point adder for transaction cost that is built into the current ROE formula.  We acknowledge that LEI seems to stand alone among the experts on that issue.  Our view is that they make a persuasive case that the adder risks overcompensating utilities, and is therefore not just and reasonable.

Mr. Smith is correct that the fair return standard is a legal requirement.  The Courts have said that utilities are entitled to an opportunity to make a fair return, even if the rate impact on customers is hard to bear.  But that only underscores the need to be meticulous and ensuring that the OEB's refreshed cost of capital policy is sufficient to meet the fair return standard, but not more than that.  As Dr. Cleary points out, anything above and beyond the fair return standard is simply economic rent.  Again, these comments are only preliminary, we look forward to hearing the various experts explain and defend their work over the coming days and we will set out our final thoughts and recommendations in our written submissions, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Richler.  Now we have scheduled for a morning break, and I would suggest that we will come back at 11 o'clock to resume.  And that will resume with the direct examination of London Economics' international witness, Mr. Goulding.  Pardon me?  Sorry.

Commissioner Anderson has just asked to note that, as we understand from Mr. Richler, that all the qualifications of the experts have been acknowledged as experts to the matters that they are testifying in, so that we do not need to go through those qualifications in direct examination.  Is there any dispute about that position?

MR. SMITH:  I don't believe so, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you very much.  Okay.  We will take our morning break now until five after 11, thanks very much.
--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:06 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Please be seated.  Thank you very much.  I believe that the London Economics International expert is to be called.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  I am pleased to introduce OEB Staff's witnesses from London Economics International, or LEI.  From the Commissioners' left, A.J. Goulding, president; Amit Pinjani, director; and Shashwat Nayak, senior consultant, all of whom the panel will remember from the presentation day.

I would now ask that these witnesses be affirmed.
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A.J. Goulding,
Amit Pinjani,
Shashwat Nayak; Affirmed.

Direct Examination by Mr. Richler


MR. RICHLER:  Commissioner Janigan, I just have a few questions by way of direct examination.

Good morning, gentlemen.  First, in light of the Panel's directions this morning that we don't need to formally qualify the experts, I don't intend to take you through your credentials, but I did want to ask you this:  You heard in their opening statements this morning, Mr. Smith suggested that Concentric was the most experienced of the four experts, and that Concentric's evidence should be given the greatest weight.  Mr. Ruby suggested the same in respect of Nexus.

Do you wish to comment on that, briefly?

MR. GOULDING:  Thank you for the opportunity, first of all, to be here today, but also to respond with regards to matters of experience.

I have been fortunate to have the opportunity to work in Ontario since 1998.  And I looked back at my notes during the break; the first proceeding before the OEB that I was involved with, at that time on behalf of the OEB, was the second generation PBR proceeding.  That would have been in 2002.

So I would suggest that my depth of experience in the Ontario market gives me a unique perspective that is relevant to these proceedings.

In addition, while it is important to respect all of the effort that goes into getting a PhD, the flip side is that six years of practical experience that you have given up.

Now, in my career, I have had the opportunity to oversee PhDs, I serve as an adjunct associate professor at Columbia University, where I teach Electricity Markets and Regulation to graduate students, and oversee graduate workshops.

Furthermore, it is my view that thinking about the cost of capital is both an academic and a practical exercise.  And so what I would argue is that in addition to the experience that I and my team have in testifying on cost of capital matters, it is also important to take into account that my colleagues and I have been directly involved in negotiating long-term debt associated with energy assets, and looking at things like coverage ratios, like covenants, and that practical experience also informs our opinion.

Our experience is also global.  We look at this from the perspective of global capital markets, global regulatory trends, and that experience informs our opinion.

Now, we recognize that it's interesting in thinking about the oaths that we just swore with regards to truth but, in this matter, we need to be cautious about fallacies of misplaced precision.  We should think in terms of a zone of reasonableness.  And while we have noted our preference for the CAPM approach, we also present in our results other models, along with the average of the results from those models.

So I would say that first, I have, going on -- always have to be careful about rounding up from 25 to 30 -- but going on three decades of experience directly in this market.  I have a mix of both academic and practical experience, and I am supported and grateful for the efforts of a very strong team in pulling together the evidence that we have submitted today.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Goulding.  On September 23, an updated version of your expert report with some corrections was filed.  Did any of the changes affect your conclusions or recommendations?

MR. PINJANI:  No, they did not.

MR. RICHLER:  Is there anything else about your report that you wish to clarify?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.  I think one point with regards to clarification here would be our recommendation on long-term debt rates.  It is worth clarifying that LEI's recommendation is to continue with the status quo, to primarily rely on embedded or actual cost for existing long-term debt instruments, and to apply the deemed long-term debt rate, or DLTDR, as a cap or proxy for all regulated utilities under the same circumstances as applied for electricity distributors and transmitters today.

These circumstances are detailed in the LEI report, on page 84, within section 4.6.1.

Further, under LEI's recommendation, a utility will not be prevented from requesting, and the OEB will not be prevented from approving, a cost of debt higher than the cap when applied, if the utility demonstrates that its cost of debt is higher than the cap.

Finally, it is important to note that LEI's primary intent with this recommendation is that the application of debt rates determined by the Board in this proceeding is consistent across all regulated utilities.

That was all for me, and I believe Mr. Goulding may have a couple other comments, to clarify.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Thank you, so much, Mr. Pinjani.

So, first, with regards to CWIP, which was discussed this morning, our report did include consideration of applying the WACC during the construction period.  And, while consistent with our approach throughout the report, we relied on precedence and administrative simplicity.

We note that if you were to weigh other factors, we do believe that the application of the WACC, particularly for projects with a duration of more than one year, would be consistent with FRS.

My second clarification is with regards to the role that policy plays in our recommendations.  We agree that the focus of this proceeding is a generic cost of capital hearing.  And the reason for our recommendations is not that it promotes consolidation as much as our view that the generic cost of capital should be set with regards to a hypothetical utility of minimum efficient scale.  And that should be the basis on which the entire generic proceeding rests.  Utilities have ample opportunity to demonstrate why they are different and whether they are deserving of different treatment through regulatory procedures here in Ontario.  And our view continues to be that treating utilities similarly, regardless of size, is appropriate from the standpoint of financial theory and consistent with good public policy.  But it is not based on the associated benefit, perhaps, depending on your view, of alignment with a consolidation or merger policy.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Commissioner Janigan, that concludes my direct examination.  The witnesses are now available for cross-examination.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Commissioners.  I believe that's right.  Members of the Panel, my name is Crawford Smith.  I know I have dealt with you folks in the past.  I am here on behalf of the Ontario Electricity Association.  I have some questions for you.

You should have received, I hope, and I hope we can pull it up, a compendium and a supplementary compendium.  You will be pleased to know I don't intend to go to all of it, and, hopefully, I will be able to move through this cross-examination in much less than the time I asked for.

If we could pull up the initial compendium and turn to tab 8, if that's possible, and if we could turn to page -- I think it should be page 176 of the PDF.  So we should have on the page you will see here, Mr. Goulding, your qualifications.  Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And I listened intently to your comments at the outset.  Before we get to you, let's just reverse across the panel, if we could, and turn to page 221 of the compendium.

And, Mr. Nayak, you should recognize this.  These are your key qualifications.  Do you see that?

And I take it, sir, that you and members of LEI, when you put together your CV, your intention was to highlight for the Board your relevant experience?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And not just broadly speaking but relevant to the matters at issue in this spreading.  Correct?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes, not just this proceeding, but, yes, broadly our experience in the energy sector.

MR. SMITH:  Right, of course.  But you do recognize, sir, that this proceeding is focused on cost of capital parameters principally.  Correct?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And the key cost of capital parameter that LEI's report addresses is of course the return on equity.

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Correct?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And there is not in your report a recommendation with respect to equity thickness, is there?

MR. NAYAK:  No, we do not recommend a specific equity thickness in this report.

MR. SMITH:  And that was because that was not your mandate?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you received that mandate from Staff?

MR. NAYAK:  I think we had the scope of work, the mandate that we had, and we also collectively took the decision that equity thickness analysis requires a more thorough utility specific review, which why, which is why this was excluded from this one.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that, but you are obviously familiar with the interrogatories you addressed, responded to, and, as I read those interrogatories, you were very clear in saying that equity thickness was not part of your mandate.  Correct?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So I just want to focus on return on equity, if I could, as I look at your CV.  And am I correct, sir, that, looking at your CV, there are only two proceedings in which you have authored or contributed an opinion in relation to the return on equity, two regulatory proceedings?

MR. NAYAK:  No, that is four regulatory proceedings.

MR. SMITH:  So let's just look at your CV, if we could.

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look at -- and I am focused -- let's look at page 222. So, at the bottom of the page, there is a page relating to the Maritime Electric Company.

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you were the author or co-author of a report in that proceeding, as I understand it?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then, if we turn over the page, there was a proceeding relating to the Montana Dakota utilities rate case?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I believe, sir, if we continue to look through your CV over the next few pages, those are the only proceedings, at least only proceedings I saw, in North America in which you authored an opinion in relation to return on equity specifically.

MR. NAYAK:  Yes, let me clarify.  Yes, with regard to ROE specifically, it's two proceedings, but I was also a co-author for the capital structure report for Enbridge Gas in the 2023 proceeding.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, and we will come to that, and that's of course why I asked my questions about the difference between ROE and equity thickness.

Mr. Pinjani, if we turn to you and we go back a few pages, we have your CV, as well.  And no prizes for guessing where this is headed, but my understanding if I look at your CV is that your experience in terms of authoring a report on ROE is also limited in the same way as Mr. Nayak's.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  I would beg to differ.  There are a couple of global reports that we have also identified in my CV.  One of them is the -- if you go down over there, on page 7 of my resume and I believe that's probably -- I have an older compendium, so...

MR. SMITH:  It should be page 214.

MR. PINJANI:  214, if you look down, there is a [audio dropout] on capital structure and cost of capital review in Jordan.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. PINJANI:  So that directly relates to ROE cost of capital in the Middle East. And, if we keep going up a little bit, you will see a project in Hong Kong, where I was -- I co-authored a review of permanent return, which is also ROE, in Hong Kong.  So those are the two at least global ones. And then I would also augment that, when we defer between capital [audio dropout] they go hand in hand.  You may have seen multiple expert reports in this proceeding and otherwise, so to box cost of capital experience without cost of capital in my personal view is, it is a bit difficult with regards to expertise.  When you're opining on cost of capital matters, you also have a wealth of understanding with regards to capital structure that goes hand in hand.

MR. RICHLER:  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Pinjani, can I ask you to make sure that the green light is on your microphone, please, or you speak closer to the mic?  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Pinjani, you will have every opportunity through your counsel through the examination if there are matters you want to add.  But the answer to my question:  As it relates to North America, the only proceedings in which you have authored an opinion on return on equity are the proceedings I had already mentioned; correct?

MR. PINJANI:  I would say yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you mentioned a proceeding in Jordan and you mentioned a proceeding in Hong Kong; correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you and LEI, and we will come to this in the cross-examination, did what you described as a relevant jurisdictional review; you're aware of that?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that neither Jordan nor Hong Kong were identified as relevant jurisdictions for this Board's consideration?

MR. PINJANI:  They were not part of shortlisted jurisdictions, but with regards to capital, cost of capital, policy and underlying CAPM model, for example, those kind of analysis are replicated in those projects as well.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  But the short answer to my question is:  Yes, they ultimately did not make your screening as two jurisdictions that were relevant for this Board's consideration?

MR. PINJANI:  Their specific analysis was not considered, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And just so that we are clear, as I understand it, the two proceedings that you were involved in in the Maritimes and in North Dakota, both of those proceedings settled; correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Let me correct you.  I was not involved in North Dakota.

MR. SMITH:  I see.

MR. PINJANI:  In PEI I was, and that was settled, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Right.  Mr. Nayak, you were involved in the North Dakota.

MR. NAYAK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that, as I looked at the testimony in that case, your role is complimentary, you were not the primary author of that report?

MR. NAYAK:  [audio dropout] I was not the lead author in the ROE section the Monday tan court proceeding, that that proceeding the ROE was not the only thank you issue, there were other issues, sir.

MR. MORRISON:  Right.  And that proceeding settled as well?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes. [audio dropout]

MR. SMITH:  So we don't have the benefit of the regulator's views in relation to the evidence?

MR. ISHIMWE:  Yes, that is true.  [audio dropout]

MR. SMITH:  Okay. Mr. Goulding, I would be loathe to leave you out.

MR. GOULDING:  I would have been hurt.

MR. SMITH:  No doubt.  And for completeness, your curriculum vitae is at page 176.  And, obviously, you recognize it and I take it, sir, that you put your CV together with a view to the issues in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.  The CV is perhaps more exhaustive than simply the issues in this proceeding but, yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is more exhaustive than the issues in this proceeding and we don't need to go through it.  But am I right that as it relates to ROE specifically, you have not previously tendered a report before any regulator in North America?

MR. GOULDING:  Subject to check, in terms of tendering a report, I think that's probably correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. GOULDING:  In terms of working with both companies and regulators around the world on the same issues, I think that's covered in my CV, and we get back to the same, you know, your focus is on ROE, I have obviously testified on equity thickness as well.

MR. SMITH:  I am familiar with your testimony.  Thank you.  So, let's get into it a bit more in the substance.  So, I would like to start, if I could, with the Board's cost of capital report in the 0084 proceeding, and we can find that at tab 1 of the compendium, page 5.  And, obviously, you folks are well familiar with this report.  And you have proposed, as I read your presentation and listened to your counsel in his opening comments, you have proposed what I guess it's your word, evolutionary rather than revolutionary change to what the Board set out in this report; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And what I'd like to do, then, is just walk through some of this report to ground where we are with you.  So, if we can turn to page 9 of the compendium.  And this is the executive summary, and if you look at the second paragraph, the Board affirms its view that the fair return standard frames the discretion of a regulator by setting out three requirements that must be satisfied by the cost of capital determinations of the tribunal.  And, I take it, you agree that that is a fair statement, the fair return standard has three components, all of which must be satisfied; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And just picking up on something you said before, I take it your view is that the fair return standard encompasses both the ROE and the equity thickness?

MR. GOULDING:  Ultimately they go together, so we come up with a weighted average cost of capital and I would say that we need to look at that in totality in order to assess the fair return standard.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look at page 10 of this report, which is page 18 of the compendium.  Page 18 of the compendium, sorry not page 10 of the cost of capital report -- well, it is page 10 of the cost of capital report, but it's page 18 of the compendium, please.  Right.  So, here the Board is reviewing the, who the participants were in this proceeding and, I take it, you were aware that the Board had access and heard from both a capital markets panel with representatives of various capital market participants; you're aware of that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it also had the benefit of a number of finance professionals and they are set out at the bottom of the page?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And so, I take it, you would agree with me that the Board had the benefit of considerable expertise in arriving at its conclusions set out in this report?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And, I take it, you agree with me that the report and the parameters specified in that report has served Ontario well for the last 15 years?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think it has.

MR. SMITH:  And, I take it, you would agree with me that the parameters, the results, from your opinion or your perspective as professionals, has met the fair return standard?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  If we look at -- let's go to page 24 of the compendium, if we could.

Now, I am going to walk through a series of propositions that are set out in this report.  I am not asking you for a legal opinion; I can barely give one myself.  But what I am asking you for is your perspective as economists.  So if we look at the first proposition, the Board says:
"The cost of capital to a utility is equivalent to the aggregate return on investment investors require in order to keep their capital invested in the utility and to invest new capital in the utility."

And I take it you agree with that proposition?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And then the second proposition is that the cost of capital is a real cost.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, the cost of capital is an actual cost.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  I wrap my mind around this; it's not like spending money on desks, but it is a real cost that the utility must be able to recover.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Economists try to be careful about the word "real".  But, yes, I would say it's an actual cost that needs to be recovered.

MR. SMITH:  And third, that if that cost is not recoverable, the utility will be unable to expand its operations or even maintain its existing ones.  And you agree with that proposition?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And that harms not only the utility, but ratepayers as well.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Over the long run, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, as a result, it harms the province overall?

MR. GOULDING:  That depends on the evolution of the industry.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  But assuming the industry evolves as it has in the past, if utilities cannot attract capital, and cannot expand their operations or maintain existing ones, then ratepayers will be harmed and Ontarians in general will be harmed.

MR. GOULDING:  I would say, I would agree that the inability to maintain their existing activities and functions would cause harm to the province.  I think it's an open question as to whether only utilities in the future will be providing these services.  So that's my only distinction that I would have with what you said.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I thank you for the clarification.  That's helpful.  So we would include utilities in that, and there may be other participants who will provide these services, participants not yet identified?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And if we turn over the page, to page 26 of the compendium, you will see there, this is the articulation of the fair return standard and the components of it that we have all heard so much about.  And these are, as I understand it, the three requirements.

And they are the comparable investment standard, the financial integrity standard and the capital attraction standard.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you agree that each of those has to be met?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And none has priority over the other?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct -- not speaking as a lawyer.

MR. PINJANI:  Is it okay if I make one point here, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. PINJANI:  Thank you.  On the same page in the compendium, if you could go down a little bit, it's important to kind of mention that not what -- what standard is mandatory obligation, the last three lines of this second-last paragraph here:
"The Board notes that the FRS is sufficiently broad that the regulator that applies it must still use informed judgment and apply its discretion in the determination of the rate-regulated entity's cost of capital."

That is one point I would like to highlight.  And another point that I would like to highlight is on the next page.  If you would go down, the very last paragraph:
"The cost of capital determination made by the regulator that meets the FRS does not result in economic rent being earned by a utility.  That is, it does not represent a reward or a payment in excess of the opportunity cost required to attract capital for the purpose of investing in utility works for the public interest."

Now the reason I mention these two observations is when we look at it as a square box, where we have looked at just the three legal requirements, it's important for the Commissioners and the parties to understand that these requirements are in addition to the observations that the Board also observes in the 2009 report, which I believe are quite important when regulators make these decisions.

MR. SMITH:  You and I are in violent agreement --


MR. PINJANI:  Perfect.

MR. SMITH:  -- in that lucky for you, I was planning on going through each of the principles and asking you to agree.  So we will be able to short-circuit that.

MR. PINJANI:  That's great.

MR. SMITH:  But just picking up on the point you made in your first comment, Mr. Pinjani, referring to the application of judgment, I take it you would agree with me, then, that you do not have a monopoly on the correct answer in this proceeding?

MR. PINJANI:  We agree, sir.

MR. GOULDING:  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  And that these are always matters of judgment.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think I would refer you to the statement in our sort of opening remarks about zones of reasonableness and fallacies of misplaced precision.  I certainly agree with you that this is a matter that involves judgment, and that reasonable, experienced experts can come to different views.

So we believe that we have presented a reasoned, thoughtful approach with a recommendation, but we have also acknowledged that there is a zone of reasonableness around that, which can be determined in a variety of ways.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And we will come to it in more detail, Mr. Goulding.  But, of course, reasonable people can disagree about model specification, reasonable people can agree on which models to use and whether to use more than one model.  You don't have any dispute with that, I take it?

MR. GOULDING:  No.

MR. SMITH:  And there is -- you know, this is, I suppose, abundantly obvious, but there is no ex ante, you know, there's no book that I can look at to determine the correct ROE and equity thickness on an ex ante basis for Ontario utilities, is there?

MR. GOULDING:  No, I think that's correct.  And it's one of the reasons that one gets tripped up when talking about, you know, a real or an actual cost of capital, because it's something that is inferred.  Whereas if we go out into a competitive business, we will be able to, perhaps, better observe market comparators than we can in a regulated business.

MR. SMITH:  So if we look at the bottom, I was going to ask you, the bottom of page 19 -- sorry, page 27 of the compendium -- we had:
"The cost of capital determination made by a regulator that meets the fair return standard does not result in economic rent."

But thank you, Mr. Pinjani, we already agree on that.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then if we turn over the page, the Board observes that there was considerable discussion in the consultation about utility bond ratings,  And then you'll see in the middle of the paragraph, the Board's determination, having had the opportunity to listen to a capital markets panel and the finance professionals:
"The Board is of the view that utility bond metrics do not speak to the issue of whether an ROE determination meets the requirements of the FRS.  The Board acknowledges that equity investors have as the residual net claimants of an enterprise different requirements, and that bond ratings and bond credit metrics serve the explicit needs of bond investors and not necessarily those of equity investors."

And I take it you agree with that, as well?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, with the caveat that there is some influence with regards to your needs as an equity holder based on the degree of leverage that an enterprise has and that bond ratings can serve to inform equity holders with regards to exactly how risky their residual claim is.

MR. SMITH:  Right, but, as to the statement by the Board and subject to that caveat, you [audio dropout]?

MR. GOULDING:  I think I agree that they serve the explicit needs of bond investors.

MR. SMITH:  And, and not necessarily those of equity investors.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I think with the "not necessarily" in there, I do agree, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay. And let's just turn over the page to page 29.  This is the role of the comparable investment standard, about which no doubt there will be much cross-examination.  But the Board observes in the middle of the page, after commenting on the challenges associated with observing utility budgeting decisions, which it acknowledges are difficult to observe because they are made out of the public eye potentially, and -- sorry, I should probably ask you:  I take it you agree with that, very difficult to observe all budgeting decisions by utilities?

MR. GOULDING:  Nor would we want the regulator to do so.

MR. SMITH:  Fair enough.  And then it goes on to observe, the Board goes on to observe, that the primary tool to deal with this is the comparable investment standard. And I take it you agree that that is one of the main advantages of the comparable investment standard?

MR. GOULDING:  Could you just clarify?  You said "one of the main advantages," and I just need to --


MR. SMITH:  Well, maybe it's a poorly framed question.  But the Board observes that there are certain challenges with transparency, as we see in the first paragraph.  If you look up the page:
"Continued investment in network utilities does not in itself demonstrate that the fair return standard has been met by a regulator's cost of capital determination and, in particular, whether the determination of the equity cost of capital requirements of the fair returns."


Do you see that?

Sorry, we have to go to the top of the page.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's what was --


MR. SMITH:  It's highlighted now.

MR. GOULDING:  So you're --


MR. SMITH:  You agree with this first sentence?

MR. GOULDING:  I am not sure that I do, actually.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. GOULDING:  So I think obviously the "in itself" is helpful in that it says that there could be other factors involved.  But continued investment in network utilities does strike me as being a fairly strong indicator that the FRS has been met --


MR. SMITH:  Sure.

MR. GOULDING:   -- subject to the view that nobody is being compelled to put the money in.

MR. SMITH:  Fair enough, but, as you observe, a point is, that the Board is making there, is that continued investment in network utilities does not in itself demonstrate that the fair return standard has been met.  And you agree with that?

MR. GOULDING:  So, for me, you know, the proof of the pudding is in the eating, and, if a cost of capital determination has been made, the investment continues in the sector; the expectations with regards to performance, IR quality, natural gas availability, all those expectations have been met.  Then, I think it's hard to argue then that the cost of capital determination was inappropriate.

MR. SMITH:  Obviously you're aware, sir, that utilities have an obligation at law to operate safely and reliably.

MR. GOULDING:  So I don't think that that is in any way contradictory to what I have just said, which is that, if you observe that there is continued investment and that investment is sufficient to maintain a safe and reliable network, I think it's pretty hard to argue that the FRS, at least from the investment side of it, is not being met.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, let's continue down the page and see if we can agree further. So I take it when we are looking at the comparable investment standard, where the Board says at the bottom of the page, "Like does not mean the same" -- and the Board is talking about looking at comparable returns availability for the application of investment capital, and what it's observing there is that "like" is not "identical," or "the same."  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I would say "not equal."

MR. SMITH:  And do you agree with that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, I am glad because you agreed with it in the Enbridge proceeding, and I would have been surprised if you didn't.

Second, second, I take it the Board is diving in here -- we will just turn over the page -- the Board is diving in there to a discussion about the use of utilities as comparators in a particular, sorry, US utilities as comparators.  So you will see that.  I just want to make sure you have a full opportunity to look at the discussion.  It begins at the bottom of page 29 and then continues, and it continues over to page 31. And let me just take you to page 31 of the compendium, middle of the page, bottom of the page on the screen -- no, now the second-last paragraph:
"The Board is of the view that the US is a relevant source for comparable data.  The Board often looks to the regulatory policies of state and federal agencies in the United States for guidance on regulatory issues in the Province of Ontario."

And then it gives a couple of examples. And I take it you would agree with me that US utilities are a source of relevant comparable data?

MR. GOULDING:  So we have used US utilities carefully, and I think that it is clear that, appropriately used, yes, US utilities are a relevant source for comparable data.

MR. SMITH:  And, in fact -- thank you for anticipating that.  So we see that in a number of ways in your report.  So, as I understand it, when you did your jurisdictional review and went through your filters, you identified a number of US jurisdictions that were instructive to this Board.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I think we have to be somewhat careful about the purpose of each set of analysis in the sense that the comparables are chosen as utilities.  Right?  That doesn't necessarily mean that we are saying:  Well, we chose to exclude Mississippi for the purposes of comparables, and that means we are excluding Mississippi as a regulatory jurisdiction that you should think about.

MR. SMITH:  No, no.  So, that wasn't quite my question but since you have given that explanation in any event, I agree with you in that it took me a little bit to follow this in your report, but your jurisdictional review and your proxy group are not coterminous with one another?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  But sticking with my question we will just go through it in pieces.

MR. GOULDING:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  You did look to US jurisdictions first as a relevant source for this Board to consider as part of your jurisdictional review; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  My only quibble would be with the "first" in the sense that for each particular issue we tried to find what we thought were useful examples that showed the difference of approaches.  And so, we looked at Canadian jurisdictions, we looked at US jurisdictions, and, where appropriate, we looked at jurisdictions outside of North America.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, you may be reading something into my question.  When I said "first", I meant only it appears in your report first in order.

MR. GOULDING:  Ah, thank you for clarifying that.

MR. SMITH:  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  That is probably the case, subject to check.

MR. SMITH:  And then you went on and you did a -- or you looked at a proxy, variety of proxy groups to inform your analysis; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you looked at proxy groups at least in relation to your determination of the data and in relation to your determination of the DCF; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And am I right, sir, that both of those proxy groups are overwhelmingly made up of US utilities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And by overwhelming I think the number is something like 20 of 23.

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, you did, or the panel told me earlier, that you testified in Enbridge's recent rebasing proceeding and I have a supplementary compendium.  And if we could turn to page 48 of that -- I apologize for bouncing around.  Can we turn up the supplementary compendium, or?

MR. RICHLER:  While we do that, I just wonder maybe, Mr. Smith, would you like to mark these two compendiums as exhibits?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  We can just do that while they are searching for it.

MR. SMITH:  I have many professional shortcomings but that is definitely one of them that I forget to do that.  So, yes, if we could mark these as exhibits it would be greatly appreciated.

MR. RICHLER:  So the OEA's compendium will be K1.1 and the supplemental compendium will be K1.2.
EXHIBIT K1.1:  OEA'S COMPENDIUM.
EXHIBIT K1.2:  OEA'S SUPPLEMENTAL COMPENDIUM.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So, maybe we will come back to it if we are having trouble pulling it up, but you'll probably know from recollection, members of the panel, that when you were considering and offering your opinion in that case, you also developed a North American peer group; you're aware of that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that that peer group was similarly comprised of a number of US entities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I don't have the number but it -- well, I could count it up, but ballpark about two dozen.

MR. GOULDING:  Subject to check, that sounds right.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, let's just stay where with are, then, in the initial compendium.  And where we are in the Board's cost of capital report.  I take it, if we go to compendium tab 34 -- sorry not tab 34, page 34.  And, sorry, page -- where are we now?  Oh, we are in the supplementary compendium.  All right.

Well, since we are there, let's just take a quick peek at it and maybe we can go to page 49.  Page 48.  This is K1.2.

So this is for the optically challenged a bit tricky, but this is, this is -- on this page we have your -- this is the common equity ratios for LEI's peer group.  And the utilities that, in your professional judgment, were relevant when Enbridge's equity thickness; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we just look at the full page, we see the full range of utilities that you looked at in that proceeding; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And one of those -- two of those utilities -- or one of those utilities FortisBC energy.  And since we are here, we might as well look at it.  That's towards the bottom of the page.  And we see there we have FortisBC energy, and it's set out fourth from the bottom.  They have the ROE set there at 8.75 in your report and an equity thickness of 38.5; do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you obviously recall that during the currency of the Enbridge proceeding, the BCUC released its decision?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you recall that the results of that decision were increasing the equity thickness of FortisBC to 45 percent and to the ROE to 9.65?

MR. GOULDING:  Subject to check.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And your recommendation in that proceeding was 38 percent for Enbridge?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the mathematical application of that change in FortisBC's equity thickness would have resulted in an increase to 40.5?

MR. GOULDING:  I beg your pardon, can you point me to some calculations here or?

MR. SMITH:  I recall that from the Enbridge proceeding, you can take it subject to check and we can look at the Board's decision, but if you don't remember, you don't remember.

MR. GOULDING:  I don't remember.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  In any event, this was the list of peer utilities that were listed and you have set out there the ROEs and equity thickness for each of them; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, obviously, you determined that they should be included in your peer group because, subject to the application of judgment, they were relevant to the Board in reaching its conclusion in that case; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  They were, in the words of the Board used in the report on cost of capital, they were comparable if not identical?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think we need to be careful about not stretching the word "comparable" too far.  I don't intend for any comparable to be identical.  In fact, almost no comparable is.  For me, a comparable is relevant, but it may be different in various characteristics, all of which need to be acknowledged, for sure.

MR. SMITH:  I am not suggesting, sir, that any one of these utilities is identical to Enbridge.  What I am saying to you is that in the exercise of LEI's professional judgment, it was important to look at a range of peer group utilities in order to inform the exercise of your professional judgment.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And each of these utilities passed your screening mechanism in order to be included in the proxy group?

MR. GOULDING:  That's right, for the purposes of that report in that proceeding.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a screening mechanism in this case?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that results in your group of comparable utilities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the screening mechanisms are designed as a tool to make sure that you have a meaningful sample in your peer group?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Sample sizes are challenging in these kinds of exercises.  We would love to have much more data to make them, you know, statistically meaningful.  But we go with the data that we have that we believe is relevant.

MR. SMITH:  So two observations there.  So, first, agree with you entirely; it's important to have a sufficiently large and robust proxy group in order to inform the exercise of your judgment.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I think there's a balance between size for size' sake and relevance.  And so we get back to what was stated earlier today about, you know, apples and more oranges, that, you know, there are times when I will say, "Yeah, actually, look, the sample size is smaller than I might otherwise like, but it's much higher on the relevance perspective, and that's why we go with it."

So, you know, I don't want to over-generalize in terms of how we select samples.

MR. SMITH:  I am not running away from this principle in any way, Mr. Goulding, don't worry.  I understand there is a balance between having every utility imaginable in your peer group and having as many datapoints as any economist could ever dream of having, and also having a relevant proxy group.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I am not sure that I understand your question, but I think it's fair to say that there is a balance.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And in the exercise of your judgment here, you thought it was appropriate to include some two dozen US utilities, and about eight or nine Canadian utilities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. PINJANI:  If I may, could I indulge just one point here?

MR. SMITH:  Just let me finish my question --


MR. PINJANI:  Okay, sure.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if you want to answer it, you can.

MR. PINJANI:  Sure.

MR. SMITH:  And, in this proceeding, you had a proxy group of some 23 entities that made it through your screening mechanism.  That screening mechanism was obviously designed to get at what you felt like was an appropriate approximate proxy group, sufficiently large for the purposes of your analysis, and it was overwhelmingly US.  All of that is fair.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Pinjani, you wanted to add something?

MR. PINJANI:  Thank you.  A key objective of this table that is in front of you was to look at what the ROE and equity thickness was for -- most of the equity thickness was for these US companies in their prior decisions, in 2015 to 2017 range, versus what their equity thickness approved were in the latest decisions, so 2021 or 2023.  There are a couple of outliers to bring in mind, but the idea was to show that between those five years, the period that we were looking at for Enbridge, the change in equity thickness between US-approved equity thickness versus Canadian-approved equity thickness has been non-significant.

So if you look at the bottom line, the customer-weighted average US, you would see that it's 50.9 percent versus 51.4 percent, on the US side.  On the Canadian side, it's 37.2 versus 37.2.  And there's a last column which shows the differences.

The idea was to show that in our presentation day, we had made a point with regards to it is not necessarily the case that Ontario ROEs and equity ratios are low, but it is potentially possible that the US ROEs and equity ratios are high.  And I don't want to necessarily say that all of them were unjustifiably high, but it's important to put these in context.

So when we look at comparable analysis, I think what we miss out on by just looking at the equity thickness of one company to another company in a US jurisdiction is comparing the ultimate result.  But what goes into the ultimate result is a bottom-up analysis.

So when a regulator is approving a 50 percent equity thickness in a US jurisdiction, they are looking at the utility's cash flows, presumably.  They are looking at what that change in equity thickness could potentially impact on their credit rating, they look at how the attraction of capital of financial integrity could be impacted.

So it's a pretty significant analysis that goes through to get to that particular 50 percent ratio.

When we look through the same here, in Ontario, and we come up with a percentage, the regulator is doing the same exercise.  But when we are doing this comparable investment standard comparison here, we are just identifying an Ontario number.  And you are comparing it to a US jurisdiction number and saying, "This is too low, that's too high, we should come somewhere in the middle, potentially."

And I am not saying you are saying this; I am just saying generally, some experts do indicate that, you know, Ontario is low.  But there is a context behind it --


MR. SMITH:  Mr. --


MR. PINJANI:  -- and one context is that Ontario is mostly exporter, for example.  Or --


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Pinjani?

MS. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I understand your argument, but that wasn't responsive to my question.

MR. PINJANI:  That's fair.  I just wanted to --


MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, as you observed in your comments, it wasn't responsive to my question.  My question was about the looking at US comparables and the construction of the peer group.  And not only did you do it in that proceeding, you have done it in this proceeding.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Now, can we -- I apologize.  Can we bounce back to the initial compendium, K1.1.  So we were on page 34 of the compendium, where there is a discussion, it starts, of the equity -- or page -- I don't know why I thought we should go there.

But we were at page 34 of the compendium, and I just, if you want to continue -- sorry, just one second.  I just want to make sure I have the right page.

Let's go to page 40.  So you will see here that the Board begins its discussion on the return on equity.  Do you see that?

And if we turn over two pages, to page 34, this is where the Board sets out its discussion in section 4.2.2 called the "Initial Setup."  Do you see that?  Sorry, page 42 of the compendium, my apologies.  The initial setup, use of multiple tests.

And I take it you are aware that the Board in its report ultimately based its decision on the consideration of multiple tests used to establish the return on equity.  Correct.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that included consideration of the capital asset pricing model.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And not just the capital asset pricing model, but the capital asset pricing model as specified by -- or as differently specified by a number of different experts in that [audio dropout]


MR. GOULDING:  The Board took into account all the submissions, yes?

MR. SMITH:  Well, yes to that, but I just want to make sure that it's clear for the record.  The capital asset pricing model requires in its application judgments as to its specifications.  You are not pulling it off the shelf, one size fits all.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  That's fair with regards to the specifications, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right, and that's why you have different data than do Concentric and as does Dr. Cleary, as does Nexus.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You are all using the capital asset pricing model, but you are all -- the exercise of your judgment is all a little bit different; the results are all a little bit different?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right, and the model also included use of the DCF, or the models includes the DCF, discounted cash flow model.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Just so that I can clarify your question, the models considered by the OEB in the 2009 proceeding?

MR. SMITH:  Correct, correct.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, and it also considered an ERP approach, equity risk premium.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And ultimately what the Board decided in the exercise of its expertise is over on page 44 of the compendium, and what the Board says, in bold, at the bottom of the page:
"The Board agrees that the use of multiple tests to directly and indirectly estimate the ERP is a superior approach to informing its judgment than reliance on a single methodology."

And that was the Board's conclusion?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And, if we look over at how that played out, if you turn to page 46 of the compendium, that's where the Board sets out its summary of participant recommendations, and that's, if we look at that broadly speaking, that's where you see the use of the CAPM, and DCF [audio dropout] and the ERP approach.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then it arrives, at the bottom of the page, at an average ERP of 5.51?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Which, just since we are there, your initial ERP that you recommended in your report was 5.5?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, and we can go to the page in the report if it's needed.

MR. SMITH:  We will get to it in due time.  So, if we look, then, at tab 8 of the compendium -- and I will just give you a pinpoint reference in the compendium.  I will just make sure that I have it.  If we go to page 172 of the compendium -- and this is page 124 of your report.  And this is the ROE methodology used in other jurisdictions.  Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, if you look across each of the jurisdictions that you have identified, there is no North American jurisdiction, is there, that limits its consideration to the capital asset pricing model only?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair.

MR. SMITH:  And, if you look at your table -- and you have Ontario and then you have a little STAR under ERP -- I take it you would agree with me it would be more correct to say that that ERP is the product of the averaging of the capital asset pricing model, the DCF and the [audio dropout]?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that adds colour to the checkmark.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I will take that as a yes.  All right.  So, if we go, then, on Monday of this week -- and your counsel identified it in chief, and Mr. Pinjani is nodding; he must know where I am going -- you delivered an updated report.  You recall that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you corrected for certain values that had been set out in your report.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, as I understood it, the correction that you were making was to the, in your determination of the ERP in looking at utility bond spreads.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  It was --


MR. SMITH:  That was one of them?

MR. PINJANI:  It was primarily Figure 36, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, and then that Figure 36 has consequential effects on some of your conclusions.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  On the alternative, not on recommendations.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So let's just turn to page 243 of the compendium, if we could, and this is page 113 of your report.  And you lay out a series of alternatives that the Board could consider in arriving at the ROE.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, if we look at the bottom of the page, this is your Figure 36, and you'll see the ERP average there of 5.5.

And that's what I was referring to, Mr. Goulding, earlier.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And so this is your initial report, and, as I understand it, the error was in setting out the average bond yield at 3.37?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And, if we turn over the page to page 245 of the compendium, if we can just keep going down, 245 -- I think it should be two pages.  I think there is a blue divider in between.  Right, so this is the updated report, and it has the benefit of side barring, and we see there that you have updated your ERP to 5.94.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you observed that this was the determination that was -- or that the ERP approach was the methodology used by Dr. Vander Weide in his testimony or in his report back in the cost of capital report.  Do you see that?

MR. PINJANI:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  And the impact of that change can then be seen if we go to page 247 of the compendium, and this is your initial Figure 46.  You recognize that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And then, if we turn over the page to 249 -- I guess it's two pages, 249.  And this again is your summary table, and we can just take a look at the effects of your update.  So your determinations in alternatives 1, 2 -- if I have got this right -- 1, 3, and 6 all go up.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And they are all, as revised, higher than your recommendation.  Correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, if we look at alternative 6, that is called "Determination of an average base ROE from the capital asset pricing model, the equity risk premium, and discounted cash flow methodologies, with updating of ROE based on 3."  Do you see that?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And I am correct, sir, that alternative 6, the averaging of the ROE, the capital asset pricing model, and the ERP, was exactly what the Board did in its 0084 case; correct?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And so, if we were to take your calculation of the capital asset pricing model, not Dr. Cleary's, not Nexus's, not Concentric's, and we use your determination of CAPM, ERP and the DCF and we average them, that gives me 9.6; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is without any adjustment for flexibility and flotation costs; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So, that is exclusive of the 50 basis-point adjustment?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So, if we just look at what that alternative would be if the Board did what it did in 2009, and it applied and we look at your models, it would arrive at a conclusion that compares 9.6 -- it arrives at 9.6 and that compares to LEI's recommendation of 10 which includes a 50-basis point adjustment; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I got a bit lost in your question.

MR. SMITH:  You know why, because it was a terrible question.  So much talking, so little point.  The question is -- the observation is simple this, Mr. Goulding:  If we look at your number 6, it doesn't include flexibility and flotation costs and it arrives at a number of 9.6; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And LEI, despite all of the may exist in all of these reports, their conclusion is 10; correct?  Concentric, sorry, Concentric is 10.

MR. GOULDING:  I would want you to take me to their report and show me exactly, but subject to check, if you say that your witness' is 10, then I will accept that.

MR. SMITH:  You're not suggesting you don't remember LEI's ROE -- sorry, Concentric's ROE recommendation; are you?

MR. GOULDING:  I am suggesting that I like exactitude and I am not going to accept a memory test for the sake of these proceedings.  And so, I will accept that you say that your client's recommendation is 10.  My focus is on my recommendations.

MR. SMITH:  All right, fair enough.  So, take it subject to check that Concentric's recommendation is 10.  Okay?  And you know that their recommendation is inclusive of the 50-basis point adjustment; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  To the apples to apples comparison taking that out is 9.6 to 9.5?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Or, if it's included, 10.10 to 10?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I am about to change topics, so maybe -- I know we are a bit early, but if we took the break?

MR. JANIGAN:  How much longer do you expect to be?

MR. SMITH:  I am going to be inside my time estimate, I can promise you that.  I have two hours and I am definitely inside of it.

MR. JANIGAN:  I am just wondering whether or not we should continue to finish.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, sorry, we are not going to finish in 15 minutes.  I was just looking at the clock for when your schedule had allocated lunch.

MR. JANIGAN:  So, let's break for lunch, and come back at 1:35.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  One item I wanted to alert people to, that apparently there is a protest planned for Indigo at 5:30 today, and I think we are going to try to get out a little earlier than 5 o'clock, to ensure that we don't get caught up in it.  Okay?

So we will continue on, and we will try to get done what we planned to get done today and, if we finish today's effort, I think we may then adjourn.

Okay.  Do you want to continue, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, very much, Commissioners.  Yes, and with the benefit of the lunch break I was able, I hope, to shorten things.

Good afternoon, panel.  Can we please turn up compendium K1.1, page 241

MR. JOHNSON:  I am sorry, can you repeat the page number?

MR. SMITH:  Page 241.

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  And maybe if it's possible, if we can just make it a bit bigger for the witnesses, on the screen.  I am sorry, yes, we want to be in K1.1; I think we are in the wrong document, now.  So we are in our initial -- no, not page number.  We are in the OEA's compendium.  It should be the -- okay, yeah, there we are.  Perfect.

Panel, you obviously heard this morning a number of parties refer to Dr. Cleary's report.  And you will recall that you were asked for your views in relation to his recommendations and analysis set out in his report.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Excuse me, just so that I clarify, we were asked not this morning but through the IRs.  Is
that --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, fair enough.  This morning, there were a number of parties who referred to Dr. Cleary.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  During the interrogatory process of this proceeding, you were asked about Dr. Cleary and your views of his recommendations and analysis.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's the interrogatory that we have on the page, here, on the screen.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I read your interrogatory response, your considered professional judgment is that Dr. Cleary's recommendation of an ROE of 7.05 does not meet the fair return standard?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you articulate why, but that was obviously the opinion that you gave at the time of this interrogatory.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you continued to hold that view at the time of presentation day?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you continue to hold that view today?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you spoke, Mr. Goulding, and I believe Mr. Pinjani may have spoken about this as well, about a zone of reasonableness around which people may disagree, but which is reasonable.  Do you recall giving that evidence?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it, sir, that your view is that 7.05 does not fall within that zone of reasonableness?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's generally correct.  Now, I would note that when we take that datapoint, and the two datapoints submitted by the companies in terms of their recommendations, and we average them together, we come up with a recommendation that's pretty close to ours.

And so you are saying do I think this is within the zone of reasonableness?  No, I do not.

MR. SMITH:  Right.

MR. GOULDING:  Do I think it might be useful in terms of setting out the far corners of the envelope in which the answer might be found?  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Let's just take the answer as given. I took it, sir, that there could be a zone of reasonable opinions, all of which met the fair return standard.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I would say that there's a zone of reasonableness that surrounds most of the recommendations that are provided here.  And I do find this recommendation to be an outlier.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And such an outlier that it doesn't, on its own, meet the fair return standard?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think we can quote directly here:
"LEI believes that Dr. Cleary's recommendation of 7.05 percent does not meet the FRS."

MR. SMITH:  Right.  Okay, let me make sure that I understand your evidence in relation to energy transition.  I don't think we have to be long on this, but if we turn to the compendium at page 167?  And, at the bottom of this page, you have set out the impact of the energy transition on the cost of capital.  Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  section 3.2.2, "Impact of the Energy Transition on the Cost of Capital."

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  And it proceeds for the next three paragraphs.  But as I understand your evidence, your view is that energy transition issues are not a large driver in reviewing the process of setting the cost of capital, and that's because, at least in the near term, they are not affecting cash flows.

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.  But I would add that this is in the context of the generic proceeding.  Overall, I would want to see evidence that the energy transition was changing, making more volatile the cash flows and profits of the regulated utilities and calling into question the recovery of their investments.

And on a general basis, within the next five years, I don't believe that to be the case.

MR. SMITH:  And you do recall, sir, that in the Enbridge case, you were asked about energy transition quite a bit?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And do you recall advising the Board that your view is that investors think not just about the short-term, but also long-term risk?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I would want to make sure we weren't being misquoted, so it would be great to go back to the quote.

MR. SMITH:  Happy to go to it.

MR. GOULDING:  Let's go there.

MR. SMITH:  Page 104 of the compendium. So this is an extract of your evidence, and we are happy to look at as much or as little as you want to look at, but what I wanted to focus on for my question is, if we go to line 18, you're being asked here by Mr. Yauch -- and, just for reference, it's the page earlier on the transcript, line 18.  You say:
"But we want to make sure that the capital attraction standard --"

And that's one of the three standards in the fair return standard.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  "that the capital attraction standard is
met not just at this instant but from the standpoint of regulatory efficiency. Ideally, we don't want sometime in the next --"

Sorry, we are going to have to scan down, just all the way to the bottom of the page.

"Ideally, we don't want sometime in the next five years for there to be a dramatic change in the utility's ability to attract capital.  When we think about investors and how they think about short-term and long-term risk, their hold periods, what they are trying to do, they are not going to just wish away long-term risk; they are going to take it into account in their investment decisions, and so, from our perspective when we look at the capital attraction standard --"

Next page, please.  If we could go down, please.

"-- it is prudent to at least incorporate some thinking about long-term risk, even if we believe that the energy transition risk may be more in the -- I am just making up numbers here for example -- in the 10-year time frame versus the 5-year time frame."

And that continues to be your view?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's correct, and I don't think that there's any contradiction between the two.  What we have talked about in this proceeding is that the equity thickness, as is consistent with the proceeding of which you're speaking, is something that individual utilities can bring forth applications to change their equity thickness and to make appropriate arguments about that.

In the next five years, for the bulk of the utilities that are under OEB jurisdiction, I see limited to no potential that their revenue profile is going to be significantly more volatile than in the past or that their risk of recovery has changed.

MR. SMITH:  So let me just make sure that I understand your opinion, then. So your opinion is that energy transition is a risk that equity investors would have regard to over the long term, and your view is that it should not be considered here because, as I understand it, your view is that equity thickness should be addressed in utility-specific applications.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I would agree with the latter, right, in other words, that these types of risks should be addressed in equity thickness proposals.  I think, for regulated utilities, particularly on the electric side, the jury is still out about whether energy transition represents a risk in terms of greater volatility of revenues or failure to be able to recover their capital invested.

MR. SMITH:  Would you agree with me, sir, that people underestimate the energy transition risk as it relates to electricity distributors?

MR. GOULDING:  No, I would say the opposite.

MR. SMITH:  Okay. So maybe let's turn over to page 114 of the compendium.  And, if we look at the bottom of the page -- this is your transcript again -- you're being cross-examined by Mr. O'Leary, and he is asking you about energy transition risk, beginning at line 18.  And you'll see your answer there, at line 24:
"So this is Mr. Goulding.  I would agree with you that the magnitude of the risks is higher for natural gas than electric utilities.  I would argue that it is probably underestimated with regards to electric utilities."

And that was your opinion?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe a year has passed since that last proceeding, and what I would say today is I think the area in which energy transition risk may be underestimated for the long term is the extent to which we have cord-cutting.  I don't believe there is any imminent risk of that. But I think that and particularly over the last year as we have started to see -- and I have serious concerns with the treatment of data centres.  But, as we have started to see that kind of load pick up, I think my position has evolved a little bit on this particular aspect.

MR. SMITH:  And fair to say that the evolution of your opinion is not explicitly set out in your report?

MR. GOULDING:  So in this particular report, for the generic proceeding?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. GOULDING:  I don't believe that there was any requirement for me to talk about that evolution, and I think that my position is well stated in the report.  I --


MR. SMITH:  So the answer to my request is:  No, it's not set out in your report?

MR. GOULDING:  Nor is it necessary.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Final area of cross-examination, sir:  I wasn't clear -- I tried to take a note of it, and I apologize.  It wasn't clear to me what LEI's position is on the issue of recovery of actual long-term debt costs.

MR. GOULDING:  I --


MR. SMITH:  Is it now your position that those costs are recoverable as part of the cost of capital and are not capped?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think our position has changed.  I think we clarified it, and I think Mr. Pinjani can go back to the report to state the circumstances under which it would be capped, and so I believe that was the purpose of the clarification. Mr. Pinjani?

MR. SMITH:  Well, let me just -- I am going to ask some questions, Mr. Pinjani.  You can help me out. I take it you would agree with me that, generally speaking, a utility is entitled to recovery its prudently incurred costs?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you are aware that, at least as it applies to Enbridge and OPG, they have issued long-term debt in the public markets?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are aware of the interest rates applicable to that debt?

MR. PINJANI:  Not specifically all of them, but generally yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And, in fact, if we look at the compendium -- let me just make sure I have it here.  But I believe this was an interrogatory that was asked, Schools 40, and, if we go to page 96 of the compendium -- so I am just focused on OPG and Enbridge.  And you'll see here the last five issuances, the issue date, term, maturity date, principle, costs, what have you?

MR. PINJANI:  Um-hmm.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, so you'll accept the accuracy of this; no reason to dispute it?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And, if we go back in the compendium, sir, to page 86, we put together -- and I hope you had an opportunity to look at it, but we put together for OPG and for Enbridge a comparison of the actual coupon rates that we saw on the interrogatory we looked at against the deemed OEB rate.  And you will see that on pages 86 and 87.

And, as this shows, in all cases, Enbridge and OPG would be capped at the deemed OEB rate, and they would therefore suffer a loss.  Do you see that?

MR. PINJANI:  I see that, and I think the clarification this morning helps to clear a bit of confusion here. So what our intention has been throughout is uniform treatment of deemed long-term debt rate.  So, as I clarified this morning, our recommendation continues to be that the status, that the -- we primarily rely on embedded or actual cost of the long-term debt instruments and to apply the DLTDR as a cap or proxy for all regulated utilities instead of just electricity distributors and transmitters under the same circumstances as applied for distributors and transmitters today.  If we could go to the LEI report, page 84, we can walk through those five circumstances, and if those five circumstances apply to this particular table that you have up here in the compendium, then, yes, it would be capped.  But if they do not then it would not be capped.

MR. SMITH:  All right let's just step back for a second.

MR. PINJANI:  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  You are aware that when the Board issued its report in 0084, it determined that Enbridge, the current policy of -- its then current policy of allowing actual debt cost to flow through the cost of capital should be continued; you're aware of that?


MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it also determined that the same policy applied to OPG; you're aware of that?


MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And are you aware sitting here today of any prudently incurred debt cost -- sorry are you aware of any imprudently incurred debt cost that flowed through rates to harm ratepayers?

MR. PINJANI:  While I am not aware of that I think we are talking the same -- we are the same thing her with regards to actual embedded costs in general. What we are talking ability for example I will give you an example of a circumstance where it could be capped. So for debt held by affiliated party with a fixed rate, the DLTDR at the time of issuance will be used as a ceiling on the case on the rate allowed for that debt. So if it was affiliate debt here with a fixed rate then that would be capped.  I am not sure whether this table up here on the screen is affiliate fixed rate debt. And the reason we wanted that to be -- are recommending this to be applied is purely for uniform treatment across all regulated utilities.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. PINJANI:  The Board under this proceeding comes up with a -- or approves a separate DLTDR application methodology.  Our intention, primary intent is that the application is uniform across all utilities.

MR. SMITH:  Fair enough, sir. But are you aware of any mischief that has been occasioned by any debt issuance over the last 15 years?

MR. PINJANI:  I am not aware of any.

MR. SMITH:  Right. And so what you are saying is that even though we are not aware of any problem that has arisen with the Board's policy, we think it should be changed so that Enbridge and OPG now bear the burden of having to pass through their actual debt costs; is that your position?

MR. GOULDING:  I am a little bit confused about your question in the circumstances where your clients would be harmed by the recommendation. So I would benefit from that in that our view is that actual debt costs prevail provided they are third-party debt. If they are not, then we are looking under a very limited set of circumstances to apply a cap.  Now, when I look at these actual EGI coupon rate, if it's debt with an affiliate, yes, there would be a cap.  But if that debt is out in the market, if it's with a private equity, as long as you can prove that it's a market-based rate, right, it flows through.

MR. SMITH:  Then how is that any different, Mr. Goulding, than it is today.  If it is prudently incurred market rate debt the utility is entitled to recover it.  Why on earth are we trying to fix a problem that doesn't exist?

MR. GOULDING:  I am not clear what we are exactly disagreeing on.

MR. SMITH:  It seems to me that you are saying in certain circumstances there should presumptively be a cap and right now there is no cap, there is no mischief, and if people believe that a cost is not prudently incurred they can challenge it.  So why are we fixing something that isn't broken?

MR. GOULDING:  So generally speaking I agree with you that we have tried to be conservative throughout our recommendations in terms of not making changes for the sake of making changes.  I think in this particular case, what we are looking for first is uniform treatment across the regulated utilities, and I think a reasonable view that the cost of debt should be determined by the market. Furthermore, I think that we have provided for the possibility that a utility can come and propose that here is a reason why our affiliate debt needs to be above the cap.  This strikes me as a reasonable balance.  So the intent is not to impose a cap that's below third-party debt rates.  And if there are circumstances where there is affiliate debt, where there is the potential for mischief, then if the cap is causing problems there is the possibility of coming to the Board and asking for an exemption.  So uniformity, possibility for mischief.  Look, I believe that all the parties here are generally acting in good faith, nobody is running out to tag the consumers with extra costs, and likewise the consumers are coming in good faith and saying we want a reasonable return but not an excessive return.

But in this particular case, right, theoretically if we said well you can just pass through all the costs of debt regardless of whether you're loaning the money to yourself, then there is a potential for a problem.

MR. SMITH:  Nobody has said that, and nobody has said that costs can pass through regardless.  And nobody has said that intervenors can't challenge those costs.  Nobody has said any of those things over the last 15 years and there hasn't been a cap and you can't point to any mischief; isn't that fair?

MR. GOULDING:  My view is that there is no justification for differential treatment among different types of regulated utilities on this matter.  Nor do I believe that the change will impose significant operating challenges to the affected utilities.

MR. SMITH:  So you disagree with the Board's conclusion in the 0084 case?

MR. GOULDING:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I believe you're next up, Mr. Ruby and Ms. Stothart.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ruby


MR. RUBY:  Thank you, panel.  Gentlemen, as you heard earlier today my name is Peter Ruby.  I am one of the counsel for the Electricity Distributors Association. I also had provided a compendium yesterday, so perhaps Mr. Johnson can tee that up and we will use it from time to time. I take it, gentlemen, you have already had a chance to look at it?  Or at least glance at it?

MR. GOULDING:  I think "glance" would probably be a more appropriate term.

MR. RUBY:  Glad to hear it, and perhaps so I don't forget later we can mark it as the next exhibit.

MR. RICHLER:  The EDA compendium will be Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT K1.3:  EDA COMPENDIUM.


MR. RUBY:  Thank you. All right maybe we can start with some easy things. I take it that we can agree that the North American financial and capital markets are highly integrated?

MR. GOULDING:  I would say global financial and capital markets are highly integrated, yes.

MR. RUBY:  We are going to go much faster if you answer my questions, sir.

MR. GOULDING:  Well, that doesn't necessarily take us in the direction of truth, so.

MR. RUBY:  Well, your counsel will have a chance to ask you other questions, but I am asking you about the North American capital markets. The financial and capital markets are highly integrated, right?


MR. GOULDING:  And my response is global capital markets are highly integrated.

MR. RUBY:  Let me try it this way.  When you say global, can we take it that includes the North American markets being tightly integrated?


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  All right, fair enough. Now I take it we can also agree that the Canadian data related to the ROE analysis reviewing in this proceeding are limited by the small number of publicly-traded utilities in Canada?


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree that it's wise and reasonable in an ROE analysis to use a partly US comparable group?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  As we say building comparable groups is challenging, but I think in certain circumstances that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  All right, fair enough. Now I take it we can also agree that the Canadian data related to the ROE analysis we are doing in this proceeding are limited by the small number of publicly traded utilities in Canada?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree that it's wise and reasonable in an ROE analysis to use a partly US-comparable group?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  As we have stated, building comparable groups is challenging, but I think in certain circumstances that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Well, in this case, it's wise and reasonable to use a partly-US comparable group.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think it obviously depends on your focus for building the comparable group, but I would generally agree with that, yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  For the purpose of doing an ROE analysis in this proceeding, you'll agree with me?

MR. GOULDING:  For the purposes of some aspects of the ROE proceeding, yes, I agree with you.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So we can agree that having a proxy group of North American comparators trumps any jurisdictional or structural difference.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Could you repeat the question?

MR. RUBY:  We can agree that having a proxy group of North American comparators trumps any jurisdictional or structural differences between them?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think it trumps those differences.  I think that you build a group of comparators, and then you lay out the caveats that surround it.  And so I don't think you ignore those differences, but you explain why they're -- you explain why the comparable group is still useful.

MR. RUBY:  Fair enough.  Okay, sir, I don't want to get stuck on quibbles. But can we agree that, on a 40 percent equity thickness basis, the current deemed ROE figures in the US, Alberta, and British Columbia are higher than in Ontario?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's generally the case, yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Now, if we can pull up, please, tab 4 of the EDA compendium.  Mr. Johnson, if it helps, on the left there is a little bookmark symbol.  If you click on that, it will give you an easy-to-use jump-to-the-tab feature.  There you go, so if you just click on -- there, you got it.  Okay, thank you.  And you can just leave that up.  It's big enough, I think, for all of us.  Okay.

So I take it you have seen this interrogatory response before?

You can scroll down a little bit so it shows the coloured bars at the bottom and the blue part.

MR. GOULDING:  We see it.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So we can agree that, if we are going to compare ROEs, to do it on an apples-to-apples basis with respect to equity thickness, some of the results need to be adjusted to be on a comparable equity thickness basis?

MR. GOULDING:  I think my only disagreement with that is that -- this gets back to whether something trumps something else -- is that you have to also look at the underlying risk profile of each of these jurisdictions.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, so I hear you.  Let's set that aside for the moment. I am making a much simpler question.  Let me try this again.  The orange line at the bottom is the LEI proposal -- sorry, at the top.

MR. GOULDING:  At the top.

MR. RUBY:  My mistake, orange at the top.  I can only get colour and direction at once.

MR. GOULDING:  I can't even get colours.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There you go.  So, the top one, that's you.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And your equity thickness you used when you came up to 8.95 was 40 percent?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUBY:  And the purple line, which is existing Ontario, that's also at 40 percent?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And you're aware that some of the jurisdictions in the United States use something other than 40 percent as the equity thickness?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And British Columbia uses something other than 40 percent?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And so, to compare the ROE numbers that go down the right-hand side, you have to make an adjustment to take into account that they were ordered at different equity thicknesses?

MR. GOULDING:  I think I would accept that, yes.  It might not be only the thing that I would adjust, but yes.

MR. RUBY:  Fair enough. And then, so, if we adjust to 40 percent equity, which is the current standard in Ontario, you'll agree this chart shows, for these utilities, that these would be the adjusted ROEs.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  Just so that I am a hundred percent precise, I would agree that this is what this chart shows; that doesn't necessarily mean that I agree with the approach to get there, but I think that that's what this chart shows.

MR. RUBY:  Okay. Well, when we say "approach to get there," in order to move from a 50 percent equity thickness, to take an ROE and make it equivalent at a 40 percent equity thickness, there is a mathematical formula to do that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I agree with that, but I would again refer back to my previous answer, which is that the equity thicknesses also, as we have recommended, need to take into account forward-looking cash-flow analysis.  And, without doing that analysis, I am not sure whether it's really apples to apples with regards to the relative risks.  So I can leave that aside --


MR. RUBY:  I have asked you, because you're an expert, to leave that aside for the moment.  We have all heard you.  We know what's in your evidence.  I am dealing with something much simpler, which is:  On an equity thickness, apples-to-apples basis, what we have on the screen now is at 40 percent thickness, so that there is no dispute about that.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  So, all other things being equal, yes, I agree.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, thank you.  Now, earlier you talked about a zone of reasonableness.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  You remember you had a discussion with my friend Mr. Smith about it?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Is one of the ways to identify the zone of reasonableness to use a confidence interval methodology?

MR. GOULDING:  It's not how I would establish the zone of reasonableness for a regulatory proceeding, no.  If I were doing some just general statistical analysis with large data sets, yes.  But, no, I would not use that statistical approach to develop the zone of reasonableness.

MR. RUBY:  Let me see if we can help the panel a little bit with this. I have to admit that, When lawyers hear "reasonable," that's a word that causes a lot of trouble, right, because it's hard to identify what's reasonable and what's not?

From a data-analysis point of view, you'd agree with me that, if you want to find a zone of reasonableness outside the regulatory context, one way of doing it is identify the confidence interval?

MR. GOULDING:  I think, outside of the regulatory process, I would generally agree with you that that would be one way, one input into thinking about reasonableness.

MR. RUBY:  Okay. And you're suggesting, I take it, that applying your judgment in the regulatory sphere, personally, that's not the one you would use to establish reasonableness?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  And I take it your approach to establishing the zone of reasonableness is to apply your expert judgment?

MR. GOULDING:  I think I would -- well, you have to think of me, and then you have to think of the commission, right? Clearly, I have --


MR. RUBY:  Sorry, sir, I hate to interrupt you, but, you know, for better or for worse, I don't get to cross-examine the commission, and you used the term "zone of reasonableness."

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  So, yes, I am not going there, sir.  So what I am getting at here -- let me put it to you a different way.  When you use "zone of reasonableness" in this proceeding, I take it you do not mean a mathematical approach to figuring out the top end and bottom end of what's reasonable with respect to ROE.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. RUBY:  So you're applying something non-mathematical, that's based on your experience and judgment, to help the Board know what the zone of reasonableness is?

MR. GOULDING:  I wouldn't agree that it's non-mathematical.  I would say it's not using statistics.  I would say it's using a set of assumptions within models that help us to understand what the boundaries are.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Is there a formula we could use to see how you've determined the zone of reasonableness in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe we already had some discussion with regards to the various models that are available.  Right?  And, in addition, we have presented a set of scenarios within CAPM.  Now, those are, I think, from our view a means of establishing a zone of reasonableness.

MR. RUBY:  Okay. Let me make sure at least I understand it.  The commissioners may understand it, but let me try.  What you did with CAPM, from what you have described, is you used several different data sets in your CAPM analysis, and that gave you sort of higher and lower results, depending on which data you used in your analysis.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I would just recharacterize it sightly, which is the data sets were necessarily different but we looked at different time periods and, using the same data sets, looked at different ways of configuring them that we thought were reasonable.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, fair.  I don't want to get caught up in semantics.  You used for example 30-year US bonds, and you said let's take some of the newer ones from the last 10 years, and then you went back in three tranches earlier.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I believe that that was for the equity returns, not necessarily for the bonds, but yes --


MR. RUBY:  Okay, fair enough --


MR. GOULDING:  -- [audio dropout] --


MR. RUBY:  -- but that's the idea.

MR. GOULDING:  -- yes.

MR. RUBY:   You took a long set of data, and you chopped it into several pieces, and then you ran it through the same model?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And you got higher-end and lower-end results?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And you say that gave rise to a zone of reasonableness?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, so I just want to make sure. That, when you say "zone of reasonableness," that's what you're talking about?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Not a formula, not statistics?

MR. GOULDING:  Not statistics. I mean there is a formula but not statistics involved.

MR. RUBY:  Okay. It is not a mathematical formula; it is taking different pieces of the data set and running them through the same formula.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think I will agree that there is not a magic wand to determine the zone of reasonableness, but I would say that there is, you know, a formula that's involved.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Well, I -- thank you.  I think we can move on.  I think we understand what you've done.

Now, Mr. Pinjani, on presentation day, you said that it is arguable whether some US regulators are more generous than justified. Do you remember that?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And I'd like to focus for a minute on the words you used, "more generous than justified."  We can agree that there is no specific data in your report showing US ROEs are more generous than justified.  Fair?

MR. PINJANI:  We haven't expanded on that point in the report, yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Well, you haven't expanded.  Let's just try two points just to make sure we understand that. So there's no specific data, correct, in your report?

MR. PINJANI:  No specific data regarding --?

MR. RUBY:  Underlying your statement that US ROEs are more generous than justified.

MR. PINJANI:  I would say we have not explained this particular point in our report.  We have not expanded on this point in our report.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, thank you.  And it's not explained or expanded upon in your interrogatory responses, either. Fair?

MR. PINJANI:  And there was no such question for us to respond to.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, all right. So what you have had to say about US regulators being "more generous than justified," the material the Board has is what you said so far at presentation day.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I believe more than this was said at presentation day.

MR. RUBY:  Sorry, sorry, but this was Mr. Pinjani's words, so I --


MR. GOULDING:  I don't believe --


MR. RUBY:  -- am happy to have you --


MR. GOULDING:  -- it was --


MR. RUBY:  -- answer it --


MR. GOULDING:  -- actually.  I think if we go back to -- if there is a transcript of the presentation day, I think it may have been my words.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Well, we have his evidence that it was his words, so I am happy to take that, but I don't think it matters very much.  You started that sentence with using the word "arguable," it's arguable whether some US regulators are more generous than justified.  I take it what you meant to convey by that word is it wasn't your opinion but that a reasonable person could argue the US is more generous. Is that fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that what we hear consistently is that, you know, Ontario is the runt of the litter.  Right?  And the conclusion is:  Well, we have got this US data; look, there's a bunch of US states that have these much higher numbers.

And I think that, when we look for example at the way in which the holding companies are able to lever up relative to their deemed capital structures and returns at the state level, I think that we can demonstrate that, in some cases, it is possible that state commissions could achieve similar results for customers with lower ROEs.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, so --


MR. GOULDING:  And I think we had that discussion at presentation day.

MR. RUBY:  So some commissions could get different results.  Okay, let's change topics.

You're aware that most electricity distribution utilities in Ontario are publicly owned?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, by the province or by municipalities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree that the Supreme Courts in both the US and Canada have said that publicly owned utilities are entitled to a fair return on equity?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  The same way that privately owned utilities are entitled to a fair return?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And, in fact, you've recommended to this panel that the approach to setting the cost of capital parameters and capital structure should not depend on a utility's ownership structure.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBY:  So the fact that Ontario utilities are owned by municipalities should have no impact on the cost of capital set in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  That is correct.

MR. RUBY:  And, for ROE purposes, we should just consider the generic equity investor?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  All right. Now, most North American jurisdictions, we can agree, consider a mix of ROE methodologies?  I think Mr. Smith took you through one of your figures in that regard.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree that regulators typically rely on financial models in their determination of an approved ROE because the actual cost of equity for a regulated utility cannot be observed?

MR. GOULDING:  My only distinction in your answer is the use of financial models, which to me is a pro forma when I use the word "financial" models, whereas what we are doing here is a different exercise.  But I think, generally, yes, I agree with you.

MR. RUBY:  But what word do you prefer?  If it's not "financial" models --


MR. GOULDING:  I guess I would say "economic" models.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, fair enough.  That's good enough for my purposes.  It's not common sense?

That's not what we are sitting here doing?

MR. GOULDING:  I would hope ultimately that common sense plays into the decisions, so, no, it's not something that you can go out and pick up the number on a piece of paper, you know, out of -- well, nobody knows what a phonebook is anymore, but you can't look it up in a phonebook.  Well, uh...

MR. RUBY:  So let me ask it another way.  Certainly, you brought economic rigour to the report you provided to the OEB Staff?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  You didn't just apply your common sense?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And, in fact, I didn't see the words "common sense" appear in your report.  Can I suggest to you what you did is you used your attempt and judgment at economic rigour, but you didn't do it in a nonsensical way or didn't set out to do that; right?

MR. GOULDING:  Sorry.  I am smiling because I am imagining what kind of report would result from that but --


MR. RUBY:  Well, I think we might have one from somebody else.

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I believe that our report is based on sound economic principles and thoughtful analysis of the data.  Now, as we recognized at presentation day, we also expect regulators to be pragmatic and to use judgment, but the report that we have pulled together is intended to apply sound economic principles and interpretation of data.

MR. RUBY:  Right.  And three of the ways you at least looked at doing that were using the CAPM model, DCF model, and risk premium model?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree that all models are simplifications of reality?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  They all use simplifying assumptions?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And so, each model is subject to some level of criticism?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. RUBY:  And that applies to the three models we just named off?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  So, that sounds like a challenge, that all the models have their own flaws.  Is a reasonable response to that challenge to estimating ROE to base it on multiple models?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I think we have addressed this question various ways, so let me express my preference.  So, I believe that the CAPM model is superior and I believe that the best way to address uncertainties is through looking at scenarios within the CAPM model.  Now, I also acknowledge that a number of regulatory jurisdictions look at multiple models and average them, and that may be a pragmatic approach, I completely agree with you that no one model presents truth and that it's important to welcome at different perspectives.  I believe the best way to look at those perspectives in an internally consistent way is through CAPM.  I also understand that other experts feel differently.

MR. RUBY:  I would suggest to you it goes even further.  You felt DCF and risk premium were in the ballpark enough to include them in your report; is that fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I think our goal in the report is to present an analysis that's contextualized within the life of the proceedings.  And so, because these were approaches that had been used in the past, we felt it was important to present them as well.  I personally, sitting as an economic expert, feel that relative to CAPM the flaws of the other models are greater and that's why I prefer CAPM.

MR. RUBY:  Right.  So, you have used the word "prefer," which I is, I think, the word in your report as well?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  I take it by that you mean the others are viable methodologies, but I think the word you used is you think CAPM is the best one for the circumstance?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Now, and you've also told us, and I think you said the same on presentation day, that you recognize that for pragmatic reasons this panel may choose to use all three methodologies?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  They might, they might choose to average the recommendations of the experts, I think there are a variety of ways that reasonable people can look at all of the evidence and come to a conclusion.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So, just to deal with averaging, for the moment, you did provide in your report an average of the CAPM, DCF, risk premium?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And it was a simple average just one-third, one-third, one-third?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And my recollection is you criticize Nexus for weighing their average, that is that they didn't do one-third, one-third, one-third?

MR. GOULDING:  I would want you to go back to the IR response where we said that, just so that we were clear on what exactly we said.

MR. RUBY:  Not important.  Let me ask you this:  If Nexus had not weighed CAPM more heavily and it did one-third, one-third, one-third its result actually would have been higher than what it recommended to the Board; fair?

MR. GOULDING:  That's fair, subject to check.

MR. RUBY:  Okay. Let's talk about CAPM for a minute.  I take it you're familiar with Eugene Fama?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  He won a Nobel Prize in economics?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  If we can pull up tab 16, please.  If you can just scroll down so the panel can see the whole highlighted quote.  I will read it, but you are welcome to read silent to yourself.  So, Fama and his co-author French has said about CAPM:
"The attraction of the CAPM is its powerfully simple logic and intuitively pleasing predictions about how to measure risk and about the relation between expected return and risk.  Unfortunately, perhaps because of its simplicity, the empirical record of the model is poor - poor enough to invalidate it the way it is used in applications.  The model's empirical problems may reflect true failings (it is, after all, just a model.) But they may also be due to the shortcomings of the empirical tests, most notably poor proxies for the market portfolio of invested wealth, which plays a central role in the model's predictions.  We argue, however, that if the market proxy problem invalidates tests of the model, it also invalidates most applications which typically borrow the market proxies used in empirical tests."

I take it you agree with that?

MR. GOULDING:  I am sure you are going to suggest that no one should possibly disagree with a Nobel Prize winner, but in this particular case it's a question of the relative shortcomings of the various models that we have before us.  And so, what I like about CAPM is the reliance on a broad range of historical observable data, moreso than what we find in the other two models.  And I believe that that makes it relevant to these proceedings.

MR. RUBY:  Preferable?

MR. GOULDING:  Preferable, yes.

MR. RUBY:  You have told us that.  My only point here is we can agree if DCF and risk premium are flawed, so is CAPM.  You just prefer it.  If you have to choose between things you don't like that's the one you like the best?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Now, we can agree MRP is a key input into CAPM; right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  It represents the premium above the risk free rate that equity investors demand --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  -- to compensate them for the extra risk they accept when they invest in riskier assets?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And equity is obviously riskier than debt?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Now, since investor expectations are future-focused -- we can agree on that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  It's appropriate to consider forward-looking estimates in determining the MRP; fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I think, you know, this is an area that I struggle with, with regards to the theory versus the practice.  And so, I would agree that, to the extent that we have good forward-looking data from deep markets, lots of liquidity, that that's a useful input.  But I would also argue that people's expectations of the future are rooted in their experience from the past.  And that the understanding that we have of forward expectations, first of all, the value diminishes the further out we get in terms of forwards, right, so we can go into the markets, we can look at forward information for, let's say, the S&P 500.  Right?  And there's lots of liquidity over the short term, right, in a one year, on a one year.  The further out we get, five years, 10 years, et cetera, there's limited liquidity and a lot of noise.

So when I think about forward expectations and in particular the value of whatever information is publicly available on them, I think it becomes more difficult to incorporate them into the analysis.

MR. RUBY:  I understand.  You are worried about the practical problem of how we predict the future.

MR. GOULDING:  Fair.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So you gave me way more credit for having a very nuanced question, because it wasn't.  Okay?

So my question is:  Is it appropriate to consider forward-looking estimates in determining MRP?  I am not suggesting to you it is the only thing to look at.

MR. GOULDING:  I think it is.  You know, depending on our definition of the word "consider", then yes, I think it is.

MR. RUBY:  Let's see if we can help you.  If we can go to tab 17, please?  So if we roll down to the highlighted bit, this is a page out of the British Columbia Utilities Commission's decision last year, about ROE for Fortis.  And you'll see that the panel determination starts with the two -- sorry, the one sentence:
"The MRP is a key input into the CAPM", which we have covered.  "It represents the premium above the risk-free rate."

And then if -- which we have covered.  And then if you go over, I think, to the next page, you will see:
"Since investor expectations are future focused, we also support the experts' view that it is appropriate to consider forward-looking estimates in determining the MRP."

So can we agree that the BCUC got it right, at the top of page 41 of the PDF?

MR. GOULDING:  Again, with my caveat about the word, "consider", then I think, yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Let's please go to tab 18.  This is a slide from Dr. Cleary's presentation day deck that I think is a useful summary.  And I have highlighted a few of the numbers here.

So first of all, for the band that's marked "LEI", we can agree that LEI's average MRP in its recommendation was 8.32?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And that's similar to Nexus's MRP of 8.83?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And Dr. Cleary offered an MRP of 5 percent; do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And we can agree between us that Dr. Cleary is just flat wrong about the appropriate MRP.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I wouldn't go so far as to say "flat wrong."

MR. RUBY:  Wrong?

MR. GOULDING:  I believe it's on the low end but, again, it depends on what data series you use and what you think is the appropriate time period.  I believe it is low.

MR. RUBY:  Well, when we say low, it's outside what you say is the zone of reasonableness for MRP.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I think I would.  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. RUBY:  Way below the zone of reasonableness for MRP, in your opinion.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think in my opinion I would probably be starting maybe around 6.0, as being the outer bound.  So I do believe that Cleary is lower.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  That's good enough for my purposes.  All right.

So let's go on to tab 19, please.  This is an excerpt from your report dealing with MRP and the resulting CAPM ROE for each option.  And this is an example, I think, sir, of where you were explaining that you took the dataset and cut it up into different time periods.  Fair?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. RUBY:  And the way this works is depending on which segment of the dataset you use from a time perspective, your table shows CAPM results of either 8.23, 8.39 or 10.22 percent?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Well, let me ask you this:  What you did is you then averaged the three numbers on the right that I just read out to you?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  You did not weigh one more than the other; it was just a simple average?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think methodologically, there is just a caveat in terms of weights, because -- because we are talking about one long period of data, one slightly -- one shorter and one shorter, and that data is included -- the long period encompasses both, the middle period encompasses two, then effectively, you are weighting the most recent experience.

MR. RUBY:  Got it.  Okay, thank you.  And the 10.22 number on the right is derived from the more recent 2014 to 2023 US data?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And that 10.22 does not include transaction costs?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  So if the Board decided to use the data for only the past 10 years, that is, the data you have provided, the S&P 500, and only used CAPM, which is what you have proposed, you say the ROE should be 10.22, not including transaction costs.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  I mean, that is not what we are recommending but if you use just that data, that's where you would end up.

MR. RUBY:  Got it, thank you.  Now, we can talk just for a moment about the risk-free rate component of CAPM.  So we can leave up the tab, but I am not moving to something else yet.

So we can talk about the risk-free rate component of CAPM and agree that the risk-free rate represents a return of a marginal investor that they could get over risk-free earning?

MR. GOULDING:  Can you just repeat that?

MR. RUBY:  I will say that again:  We can agree that the risk-free rate represents the return a marginal investor could get for risk-free earning.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And so if an investor was presented with a higher yield US bond, for example, you would expect that they would take it over a lower yield Canadian bond?

MR. GOULDING:  So this --


MR. RUBY:  All else being equal.

MR. GOULDING:  So I think the challenge is when we think about home-country bias and when we think about the challenges of perceptions of risk, I think on this one, capital markets may not be as integrated as they are for other attributes.

And so while I would agree with you that generally speaking, if I am presented with two things that are of equivalent risk, I am going to choose the higher yield one.  And the question becomes whether Canadian investors view those two bonds differently.  And also, whether there are just timing differences in the long-run data that ultimately cause those two to converge.

So I realize that's a more complicated answer than you are looking for but, all things being equal, yes, an investor is going to choose the higher rate.

I am not convinced with risk-free rates that you are
-- that all things are equal depending on where you live as an investor.

MR. RUBY:  So Canadians may prefer Canadian bonds for some social purpose, or to make them feel better, or some other reason related to their sort of peculiar circumstances?  So that is what you are saying?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I mean, obviously we also have to look at, you know, credit ratings, deficits, deficit as a percentage of GDP.

MR. RUBY:  We have already said "all else being equal," right?

MR. GOULDING:  If those were, if all of those things were equal and we ignore transaction costs and you perceive the two governments to be exactly the same, then you would choose the one with the higher rating.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, got it. Let's talk about betas for a minute, if we can go to tab 20, please. So here is another helpful presentation day slide from Dr. Cleary.  So, if you go just up a little bit so we can see the bottom axis?  There, thank you.  So LEI was at .69 -- sorry, I may be on the wrong one here.  If you can go to next one, tab 21.  No, sorry.  If you can go to 20.  My fault.

Okay, so we are looking at the betas here.  So your beta was .69.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Apologies for being confused.  What I see at the top is a label that says "MRP and percentage."

MR. RUBY:  That's what confused me, too.

MR. GOULDING:  Okay.

MR. RUBY:  Which is why I am just asking you the question: .69 was your beta.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And I know on Nexus it says .7, but you know that Nexus was also at .69?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  And you know Dr. Cleary was at .45, which -- despite the labelling we see a little bit to the left of your red bar.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Right?  And you'll remember in his report that he called this his "usual beta estimate", the .45?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  That's what he said in his report.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And what he said is that the Canadian historical beta is about .35, but he used his judgment -- these weren't his words; they are mine -- to jump it up to .45 because historical data may not represent the best estimates of future beta.  Remember that concept?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  I take it we can agree that .45 is not the beta that should be used by the Board in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  I prefer to base my conclusions on analysis and to limit my subjective adjustments, so I would not have approached the estimate of beta in the same way as Dr. Cleary.

MR. RUBY:  Well, thank you, and we are on the same page with that, but let me see if we can take it one step further, which is:  If you saw a beta that you just thought was too low for whatever reason, you would go back and question how you got to it; you wouldn't just increase it based on your judgment?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  In other words, you would question the model if it kicked out a number that seemed unreasonable?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Sometimes the model's right and you're wrong; other times there is a problem with the data that went into the model.

MR. RUBY:  But you would go take a hard look at it?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  All right. Let's talk about DCF, please. And, when we do this, I would like to leave aside transaction costs for the moment.  Okay?

So LEI found a DCF cost of equity of 10.53 for electricity transmitters and distributors?

MR. GOULDING:  We can --


MR. RUBY:  Sorry, yes?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  All right.  And that was based on a 40 percent equity thickness?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And Nexus found a DCF cost of equity at 10.92?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. RUBY:  Also based on 40 percent equity thickness?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And do you remember that Nexus's lower confidence limit for DCF was 9.92?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  So LEI's 10.53 DCF is actually higher than Nexus's lower confidence limit?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, Mr. Ruby.  Are you referring to another --


MR. RUBY:  I have moved off this, sorry, altogether.  I can --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  That's okay, as long as there
is -- oh, okay.

MR. RUBY:  Yes, so I --


MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay. If you were referring to another diagram, that's what I wanted to --


MR. RUBY:  Yes, so the good news is, Commissioner Janigan, as you pointed out at the beginning, sometimes expert witnesses answer longer than you think.  Mr. Goulding has been great and has actually answered a lot of these questions without having to go to every document to walk him through, so we are moving quite efficiently, so thank you.

MR. GOULDING:  I am not sure whether I should say "you're welcome" or not.

MR. RUBY:  Well, you know, we will decide in a few months.  But, just to go back to this, the point really is that, if we look at the confidence intervals that Nexus provided, your DCF is inside their confidence interval.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. RUBY:  And, if we switch it around and, say, use your zone of reasonableness, I take it we could agree that, for DCF, they're inside your zone of reasonableness?

MR. GOULDING:  Hmm, with regards to their DCF calculations, is that --


MR. RUBY:  Yes, yes.

MR. GOULDING:  -- just so I understand --


MR. RUBY:  Yes, DCF.

MR. GOULDING:  -- the question?  Umm, my view and the way that I think about zone of reasonableness is that this represents the upper bound.  In other words, I wouldn't then add on another hundred basis points and say then we get a zone of reasonableness because Nexus had this number.

But I think I can agree that in terms of -- I spoke about an envelope earlier.  I think we can use that number to mark one end of the envelope.

MR. RUBY:  So is that:  Yes, they are inside your zone of reasonableness?

MR. GOULDING:  I would say at the edge, not inside.

MR. RUBY:  But still inside?

MR. GOULDING:  If you are standing at the door, are you inside or outside?

MR. RUBY:  I didn't know we could do it with that much precision, but anyways.

Just to make sure we understand this, if we can go back to tab 18, I just want to make sure we continue to understand what "reasonableness" means in this context. So, sorry, if we go back to 18 -- oh, sorry.  Pardon me.  We haven't jumped yet, so tab 18, please, Mr. Johnson.

MR. JOHNSON:  I am sorry. It is on 18, tab 18.

MR. RUBY:  I am looking at 20. I don't know if other people have 18. Oh, there, just -- yes, sorry.  It just jumped.  Maybe mine is slow.

Okay, so right in the middle is 5 percent, from Dr. Cleary.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Remember you told me that you thought your lower bound on reasonableness was about 6?

MR. GOULDING:  For the market risk premium --


MR. RUBY:  Correct.

MR. GOULDING:  -- specifically.

MR. RUBY:  Correct. The upper bound is 9, 10?  You tell me.

MR. GOULDING:  I would probably say 9.

MR. RUBY:  Okay, so Nexus is inside your zone of reasonableness for MRP?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So switching topics for the moment, this hearing we can agree is to consider the methodology for determining the values of the cost of capital parameters and deemed capital structure?

MR. GOULDING:  Apologies.  If you could ask the question one more time so I can answer precisely?

MR. RUBY:  I am going to try to make this easier.  Can we go to tab 26, please.  So you'll see this is the notice --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  -- that started us all on the road that we are on.  And you'll see that the Board wrote that it was commencing a hearing to consider the methodology for determining the values of the cost of capital parameters and deemed capital structure to be used in the rates for electricity transmitters, electricity distributors, natural gas utilities, and Ontario Power Generation?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  And we can agree that, with the findings from this proceeding, that is capital structure and cost of capital parameters, in the future the Board will use those results to, among other things, set rates for particular utilities?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  We are not setting rates in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And the OEB is not examining one or two utilities' cost of capital or equity thickness?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  This is a generic proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  So, we are not doing one or two and then using it as a benchmark for all the others in the province; that's not the exercise in this proceeding, right?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.  I spoke earlier of thinking about a generic minimum efficient size utility, but we are not considering any individual utility in this.  We are not setting the rates for any individual utility.

MR. RUBY:  Right.  And then using that as a benchmark for others, that's just not what we are doing?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So, let's talk for a minute, then, about the British Columbia Utilities Commission decision we talked about earlier from 2023, because it came up in your report.  Can we go to tab 27, please.  So, you'll see this is from the introduction from the BC commission.  And I won't read you the full -- the first paragraph, but you'll see that they have got sort of a motherhood statement about what they are doing?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And their statutory authority for doing it.  And then, again, I won't read you the whole thing, but we can agree that what the Board was doing in that proceeding is -- sorry, the BC commission, is it was actually setting, among other things, an ROE for two Fortis companies?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  And then, we know what they were going to do with the two Fortis companies is then look at whether they could be used as a benchmark for every other utility in -- that they regulated in British Columbia; right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Completely different from the exercise we are doing here, we have agreed on that already; right?

MR. GOULDING:  I would disagree with the word "completely."  It's different.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Fair enough. And you're aware that this, setting the Fortis rates, they called it Stage 1?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And Stage 2 was going to be looking at using it as a benchmark for everybody else?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBY:  And, as it turns out, the BC commission has not yet issued a decision on Stage 2?

MR. GOULDING:  That's my understanding, subject to check.

MR. RUBY:  Now, if we go over to page 64 of the PDF, please, this is all staying inside the BC commission's decision.  So, you'll see under the heading "overall determinations," the commission accepted that any reasonable and prudently incurred flotation cost incurred by a public utility are recoverable from ratepayers over and above the approved cost of capital; do you see that there?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Now, I know you have a view about how flotation costs should be accounted for or dealt with, but can we agree that it is correct that flotation costs occurred by a public utility are recoverable from ratepayers over and above the cost of capital?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So, I'm good.  At least we are on the same page with the principle.  And flotation costs are the same as what some parties call transaction costs in the context of equity; right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So, we don't get caught up on jargon.  After that first sentence that's in yellow, the second yellow sentence is where the BCUC heads in a different.  It says:
"However, there is no evidence before the panel that -- "


And it's the two Fortis companies:
-- "Incurs any flotation costs and therefore there are no costs to recover."

Do you see that there?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  So, this was in the context of the Stage 1, where the BCUC was trying to figure out whether two specific utilities should recover flotation costs?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And they had none -- practically they had none?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Different exercise.  And we can agree that since we are looking at the Stage 1 decision of the BC commission, dealing only with Fortis, it's not helpful to the OEB's consideration if generic transaction costs in the proceeding today; fair?

MR. GOULDING:  No, I don't agree with that.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Now, well let's try this a different way, then.  So, in that 2009 in that cost of capital report Mr. Smith took you through, we know the OEB approved of flotation costs adder of 50-basis points?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And not trying to hide the ball here, LEI has recommended that the OEB stop allowing that adder?

MR. GOULDING:  But that's only part of our recommendation.  In other words --


MR. RUBY:  I understand, you have got another way to handle it --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  -- but you say in ROE, which is what we are doing here --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY: -- you say no more adder for flotation or transaction costs?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBY:  We have been doing it for 16 years or more but it should stop?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I think I will reiterate what I have said before, which is:  We have only recommended changes where we feel that there is a strong justification for doing so.

MR. RUBY:  I understand, sir.  So, your justification is in your report, we have all read it, I just wanted to be clear you see a bright line saying when the OEB issues its decision in the proceeding your recommendation is no more flotation or transaction costs in the ROE; right?

MR. GOULDING:  I would say that, at a minimum, if there's an adder, I want it to be anchored in some kind of evidence about costs.

MR. RUBY:  Got it.

MR. GOULDING:  An adder might be administratively simple, but, generally speaking, our recommendation is that the costs as incurred get passed through as operating costs and recovered in that way.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Let me see if I can try this using some words you used earlier.

MR. GOULDING:  Sure.

MR. RUBY:  Your preference is for the Board not to have a flotation costs adder, but you recognize there might be a pragmatic reason to use an evidence-based adder in ROE?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Let's look at this for a moment from the point of view of investors.  If the OEB stopped the transaction cost adder altogether, we can agree that investors would take that as a signal that the Ontario energy regulation environment has become less supportive of capital investment?  And be clear, less, I am not trying to do absolutes with you.  Less.

MR. GOULDING:  I think the commitment to recover the costs, the actual costs, shows continued support.  Now, I understand that when somebody gives you a gift at the holidays and then snatches it back that you're going to feel as if you lost something, but I cannot find under, you know, basic regulatory principles that there is any justification for the 50-basis point adder.  If I could, I would leave it alone.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  So, you think what the Board decided in 2009 was a gift, that's the business they were in?

MR. GOULDING:  So --


MR. PINJANI:  Just one quick point on that.  So, in BC they had a 50 basis point adder in 2013.  They overturned the decision and you have shown that one statement here, I think there's another statement from the same decision.  If you allow me I can quote that.

MR. RUBY:  No, that's okay because we have already decided that they were just dealing with Fortis back then.  Okay, so --


MR. PINJANI:  It is more than that.

MR. RUBY:  No, thank you.  All right.  I am trying to get through this in an efficient way.  All right, so --


MR. GOULDING:  I just, I don't believe that you talked about the gift, right?

MR. RUBY:  It's not my word.

MR. GOULDING:  Absolutely, but then you suggested that I should potentially elaborate, right?  I believe that that decision was unfounded in regulatory principles.  Okay?

MR. RUBY:  All right, that's fine.  But can we agree to go back to my question?

MR. GOULDING:  I am happy for you to restate it.

MR. RUBY:  Yes.  Well, I am going to try it a different way, since we ended up talking about gifts, which wasn't I think terribly helpful.

So we can agree that investors looking back 16 or more years who received the adder as part of the ROE, that that was just part of the math.

MR. GOULDING:  The benefit of the adder.

MR. RUBY:  Well, they received it; I don't want to characterize it, right?  I am trying to help you here, right? - to do this neutrally.  But it's -- 50 basis points was part of the ROE that, when it's taken away on your recommendation, they will think that the energy regulatory environment has become less supportive of capital investment.

MR. GOULDING:  And I think that my difference with what you are saying is that you are subtracting a full 50 basis points and saying "Oh, my god, it's gone," when in fact there is still recovery of legitimately incurred costs.  Right?

Now that may convert to 20 basis points, right, on somebody that frequently issues, right?  But the justification for the adder was based on a cost incurred.  And the regulatory environment that we are recommending isn't changing.  We are saying you can recover your costs for flotation; we are just going to do it in a more precise way.

MR. RUBY:  In another rate base proceeding, not this one.

MR. GOULDING:  Correct.

MR. RUBY:  We have to deal with it another day.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBY:  And so all those investors have to bet in the meantime that the Board will make a ruling to do what you have said, not just on the ROE but they will give them a chance to recover it some other way.

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think they are making a bet.  Right?  It's not a gamble.  If the Board says this is how we are going to handle it, I think the Board can be taken at its word.

MR. RUBY:  Well, we will sort that out in closing argument, what the Board is doing in this proceeding versus otherwise.

But we can agree that if -- if, hypothetically -- investors think that  Ontario regulation is becoming less supportive, that would be right at the time when increased capital investment is becoming more necessary to address the energy transition?

In other words, you are taking it away just when you are asking people to spend more and invest more.

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I feel like there is a number of ifs there that would call for a bit of speculation on my part, which I am a bit uncomfortable about.

MR. RUBY:  Okay.  Can we agree that stopping flotation costs in the ROE would make the regulatory environment in Ontario less friendly to investors, all else being equal?  Will you go that far?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I think you could actually flip it around and you could say "Look, we are giving you an opportunity, if your flotation costs, if you can demonstrate that they are more than 50 basis points," I think it's unlikely, "but if you could, then you can pass it through."

So we are basically actually increasing the certainty that you are going to be able to recover your flotation costs.

MR. RUBY:  All right.  Okay.  So we will take that up in closing submissions.  All right.  Okay.

Now, since 2009, when the OEB last approved the flotation costs adder for ROE, we can agree that in this proceeding, LEI has not provided evidence of a problem since 2009 that requires remediation with respect to that adder?  There's no practical problem on the ground.

MR. PINJANI:  We have provided an example of a problem.

MR. RUBY:  Okay -- an example of a problem.

MR. PINJANI:  This was in our chart on the presentation day, where we showed what the 50 basis point adder is adding up to in terms of percentage of equity issuances, which turned out to be between 10 and 24 percent --


MR. RUBY:  Right.

MR. PINJANI:  -- significantly higher than what one would expect these flotation costs to be.

MR. RUBY:  I understand.  I just didn't identify that was a problem, but I am glad you clarified that.

Commissioners, if I can just have a moment?  I might be done a little early, and right before I think the break that was scheduled.

Commissioners, if we can have a moment, maybe we will take the break now, the afternoon break?  And then I may be done -- if not, just a few more questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  We will take a break until 3:30.

MR. RUBY:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:12 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

MR. RUBY:  Thank you, Commissioners, those are my questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Daube


MR. DAUBE:  Yes. So Nick Daube for Minogi and Three Fires. Good afternoon. I am proposing -- let me just start my watch so I don't accidently run long.

I am proposing to do six things today, just to give you and the Panel a sense of my road map.  The first topic of conversation, I am hoping to speak about your approach that you adopted in your report; the second theme, the extent to which LEI's approach included specific consideration of First Nations or Indigenous interests; number three, the status quo foundation that LEI is working from; number four, getting more specific, your specific recommendations on single-asset electricity transmitters and their capital structure; number five, your recommendations on construction work in progress; and then, number six, to the extent it's relevant, I may populate up points with some questions about your relevant background on these issues.

So, if we could please start -- I don't have a compendium unfortunately, but I believe there is -- I have given a heads-up on the documents I will be referring to, to OEB Staff.  So, if we could, please start at the LEI report, page 38.

So, looking at pages 38 to 41, I take it it's fair to say that this section describes the underlying principles and objectives behind your recommendations?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. DAUBE:  And we see right at the top there that you organize all of that into three categories. The three categories you mention are cost of capital principles adopted by the OEB, regulatory accounting principles adopted by the OEB, and the OEB's mission and mandate. Is that right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And, if we keep going to the bottom of page 40, please, and then to the top of page 41 -- so back up a little bit so we can see the end of page 40, please.  Just a little bit higher, please.

You summarize the principles that you review above into five overarching principles that you then use to evaluate alternatives and arrive at final recommendations. Am I understanding correctly?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  So, on page 41, your third principle is:
"Transitioning away from the status quo only if the associated benefits are material."

That's right?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And you told Mr. Ruby just in the past hour or so that -- or you phrased it a different way.  You said you only made recommendations or, sorry, you only put forward recommended changes where there was a strong justification for doing so.  Did I understand correctly that that was another way of understanding this principle?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  So is it fair to characterize that as a default status quo position?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't love that characterization because that suggests that we simply closed our eyes and, wherever possible, went with at the status quo, and that was certainly not our objective.

What we want to do is to balance the potential benefits from a change against overall costs, whether they are administrative burdens, whether they are perception of the industry, provided of course we are meeting the statutory requirements.

So I wouldn't describe it as a default. I would describe it as:  Let's make sure that we take into account consideration of administrative burden, of the idea that investors value consistency over time, all of these various factors, right, balanced against what are the benefits of the change. So it's a long-winded way of saying, no, I wouldn't agree with the characterization that there is a default preference for the status quo.

MR. DAUBE:  So you certainly don't close your eyes, but, on the other hand -- I think this is an obvious point -- your ability to identify potential options that would provide a material advantage isn't limitless; it's either going to depend on the review that you perform in the context of this proceeding and for this report, or it's going rely on your pre-existing expertise. Is that right?

MR. GOULDING:  I mean we are all limited by our knowledge base and experience as well as, you know, the research that we can perform.  But, that said, I don't think that we throw away things that are, you know, esoteric or new.  We heard a complaint earlier today about off-roading in terms of, you know, incorporating new ideas and approaches into these kinds of reports, and so that, I think, in and of itself presents a limit in the way in which these reports are perceived.

So I think what I would describe as the limitation is saying, look, how do we demonstrate that we know and respect precedence and previous approaches while introducing new ideas and maintaining credibility? And I think that's what constrains any expert in this kind of a proceeding.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay. Putting aside anything that you may learn or respond to in the context of this hearing, is it fair to say that you have done your best on page 41 in section 3.2 to outline the approach that you've used towards revealing possible alternatives and then evaluating them to determine whether they present a material advantage?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. DAUBE:  You'll agree with me that there is nothing here regarding Indigenous engagement or any specific effort to understand the consideration of Indigenous Peoples?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's not unique to a major public policy issue. Right? I think we have attempted to be fair to all stakeholders.  We are not here to represent any individual stakeholder.  And what we have presented is consistent with academic and economic theory, and so we neither present the perspectives of individual stakeholders, nor do we try to specifically look at alternatives for one particular group.

We have tried to approach this on a completely neutral basis, and that means that the perspectives are really from the standpoint of meeting the OEB's statutory requirement.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, you compared Indigenous Peoples to other stakeholders. Is your position that, for the purposes of this approach and understanding the perspectives of Indigenous Peoples, they are on the same level as other stakeholders as opposed to exercising a special status and relationship with the Crown?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I appreciate your question, and I hope that perhaps I have some leeway with regards to answering it.  So, I think First Nations issues are critically important, and I believe that the regulatory structure is evolving.  I think that the development of First Nations regulatory bodies is important and I think that the participation of First Nations across regulatory proceedings is critical.

Now, what I am cognizant of, however, is that this is a generic proceeding, and I'm trying to think about this from the standpoint of rate-making principles and rate design.  And so, what I am trying to do is be fair to ratepayers and investors.

Now, there are some challenges that are absolutely critical that we should all be talking about, right, that may not be addressed in this particular proceeding.  It doesn't mean they are not important, it doesn't mean there aren't different ways that those can be addressed.  But this proceeding is intended to be neutral, notwithstanding my own beliefs that there should be potentially new regulatory bodies established associated with ratepayers that live on First Nations sovereign lands, that many historical agreements need to be updated, some of which may actually flow through into rates, right.

If there is a lease that's 75 years old that was developed using coercive practices, or what we would perceive to be coercive practices at this time, right, and that's been renegotiated, the costs of that new lease should absolutely flow through to rate, right.  Because ratepayers benefitted from those unequal relationships in the past and should potentially pay for them in the future.  But those, as we have said at presentation day, we think these issues are critical.

But we see this as a generic cost of capital proceeding in which there are many different stakeholders, So, I believe -- and I would never, ever presume to speak on behalf of a First Nations member, right, but my view is that the issues of reconciliation in this space would best be dealt with holistically in a separate proceeding than in a generic cost of capital proceeding.  So, that's my personal view.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you for that answer.  Just rewinding to the question before that.

MR. GOULDING:  Sure.

MR. DAUBE:  I believe you answered the question whether the absence of specific consideration of First Nations' interests was unique to your report.  I just wanted you to confirm -- and by the way that's a position that I accept and I will take you through examples of that and we will take the experts aside from you through a demonstration of that.  I just want to confirm that there is nothing in your approach here that specifically identifies consideration of First Nation interests or issues in the context of the cost of capital proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that's fair, but I just want to emphasize I would also say there is certainly no attempt to discriminate against any particular investor, investor type, or individual, or rate payer for that matter.

MR. DAUBE:  Yes, well let me take you to a good example where you amplify that position I think you make that clear, which is N-M1-12-TFG/Minogi-1.  I feel like I am entering a phone password or something.  So, question (b) is -- oh, sorry I will just give a moment to pull it up.  Question (b) is:
"Did LEI consult with any Indigenous groups and/or First Nations with respect to this issue?"

And your answer implied, no, and then went on to offer an explanation as to why not; correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And you also noted, consistent with the answer that you just gave, that LEI notes that issues specific to First Nations would be worthy to consider as part of as separate proceeding; do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  I was going to ask you whether that reflected your belief that cost-of-capital issues as they affect First Nations are important issues worthy of consideration, but I think your previous answer probably gives me what I need on that, unless you have anything to add regarding the importance of these issues?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I think that some of the circumstances that the First Nations face are unique to them, and some of them are unique to potentially the type of asset or the kind of investment that's being made.  And our focus on the cost of capital generic proceeding is to understand different circumstances and provide a framework in which they can be addressed.  And so, you know, for example, I think our general approach has been if you are a regulated entity and the generic approach is causing you specific problems, regardless of who you are, you have an opportunity to come back and make your case, right.  And we can think about that with regards to these kinds of, let's say, single-asset transmission projects.  Now, we have made the point that the risk depends on the activity primarily, those assets are engaged in transmission.  And they have a very low risk of non-recovery.

And so, and that is whether they are small or big, we might also imagine that the investors in those single assets might be able through various means to diversify their risk or to engage in buying consortiums with other single-asset transmissions, there are other things to consider while operating your business that would put you on par with other larger entities.

So, what we have tried to do in this proceeding is to think about activities rather than ownership, and also to provide safety valves, if you will, for folks who believe they have special circumstances and can demonstrate that to the Board.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you for that addition.  Can we go to the second Minogi interrogatory, please.  So, I am trying to figure out what the short form would be -- yes, that's it.  N-M1-21-TFG/Minogi-2, for the record.  Questions (f) and (g), please.

Now, these are specific to the issue of construction work in progress and my client's asked you whether you had considered the recent practice to invite Indigenous equity participation in large capital projects and how the current policy for CWIP affects Indigenous equity participation.  They also asked you if you'd consulted with Indigenous groups on the issue.  If we go to the answers, please, I think you will agree with me -- or do you agree with me, if we could go to the answers, please.  So (f), (g).  Thank you.

Do you agree your answers implied you had not engaged in those consultations and you suggested that these issues should be addressed outside of this proceeding, and you referenced the previous answer that we just went through; is that all correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Could we please go, just as a last example, to the next document that we have in the tabs there, this is M1-1-CFN-1 from Caldwell First Nation.  And, at question (b), they asked a similar series of questions concerning the extent to which your recommendations considered Indigenous ownership for the purposes of cost of capital methodologies.

And if we go to the answer, do you agree that your answer gave no details regarding specific or unique Indigenous interests or considerations?  And you referred to section 4.14 of your report, for detailed reasoning?  Is that all a fair characterization?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Could we please go to section 4.1.4 of the LEI report, which is page 51?

Do you agree with me, and I will give you time if you need it, that there is nothing in this section that specifically references Indigenous Peoples or demonstrates a consideration of fair circumstances and interests?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think it's fair to characterize the report as not addressing particular concerns and interests, even if a particular group isn't called out.

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, you might have misunderstood the question.  Not the report -- I am asking about section 4.1.4, which you referenced in your interrogatory response.

MR. GOULDING:  I think we would have the same text here, right, even if we listed out all the people, types of investors that were impacted.  Right?  I don't believe there is anything discriminatory about not listing out one particular type of participant when our intent is to set a generic baseline that is at least intended to be fair to everyone.

MR. DAUBE:  So that's a no?  No specific reference here?

MR. GOULDING:  There is no specific reference to any particular type of investor here.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Given your approach and the references I took you to regarding the status quo, the next document I would like to take you to is the 2009 cost of capital report.  Thank you very much.  So this is EB-2009-0084.

I take this as a blindingly obvious point:  I assume that you are quite familiar with this report?

MR. GOULDING:  I am familiar with the report.

MR. DAUBE:  And fair to say that when you are referencing status quo policy in your report, that often means in large part the 2009 cost of capital report and the policies that flow therefrom?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's correct.  I mean, it does mean things that have happened afterwards, as well.  But, generally, I think that's a fair statement.

MR. DAUBE:  Do you agree, subject to check if you would like, that there are no direct references in this report to First Nations, Indigenous or Aboriginal Peoples.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Subject to check, but yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And the same goes for the 2016 review produced by OEB Staff?

MR. GOULDING:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And so far as you're aware, there is no discussion of how any of the cost of capital issues examined will either help or hinder the integration of First Nations or Indigenous Peoples into the energy sector, so far as you are aware?

MR. GOULDING:  So far as I am aware, but we can't have -- we can't solve all public policy problems through a generic cost of capital proceeding.  Right?  They are extremely important matters that absolutely need to be addressed, but we can't address them all in a generic proceeding.

MR. DAUBE:  Let's talk, please, if we go to your report, 141 to 144.  Let's talk about your specific recommendations on single versus multi-asset -- multiple-asset capital structures, and then we will talk about construction work in progress.

So, sorry, that's the Concentric report; if we could please go to the LEI report, at 141?  I think we had it up before.  Thank you, very much, for bearing with me.  Okay.

Perhaps belabouring the point, but it's an important one to my clients.  If we look at this section, which goes from 141 to 144, you will agree that there is no specific reference to or consideration of Indigenous circumstances, rights, or interests in this section of your report.  Is that correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And your ultimate recommendation, I believe it's on 144, is that the OEB retain its approach of a uniform deemed capital structure for all electricity transmitters.  Is that correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I just want to make sure that I quote properly here:
"LEI recommends that the current approach of allowing the same equity thickness to all electricity transmitters and distributors be maintained."

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  I have a series of questions for you, just in terms of factual questions.  And I am interested in whether they would influence your approach.

So the first one, do you agree that single-asset companies don't have the same benefits of ongoing cash flows from other operations that multi-asset companies often do?

MR. GOULDING:  So, from a risk perspective, I think there's generally a trade-off between diversification, with the potential for loss of focus, lack of efficiencies.  Having multiple cash flows is potentially good, but it results in greater challenges with regards to efficiency and market oversight.

So while I agree with the general premise in competitive businesses, I don't think it always reduces risk.

MR. DAUBE:  Would you agree that it often produces an increased risk due to the lack of diversification that you just mentioned?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think diversification is an important aspect of managing risk.  But there's some debate over whether it should be the responsibility of the investors to diversify their portfolios and balance risk, or of the individual company.

So I think, yes, generally if you have a bunch of cash flows and they have differences in their volatility, right, in the patterns of the cash flows, and in the risks that they face, then diversification will reduce risk, overall.

MR. DAUBE:  And certainly you would agree using the specific example of single-asset electricity transmitters in Ontario versus multi-asset electricity transmitters in Ontario, those single-asset companies often face increased risk due to a lack of diversification.  Is that correct?

MR. GOULDING:  The challenge for me in a proceeding like this is whether the fact that they are a single-asset company is based on choice or necessity.  Right?  So do they have an inability to diversify?  Right?  If through the choices of their management they have decided to be a single asset, then I don't see a justification for providing additional compensation.  Right?

Now, if you said to me there is absolutely no way legally, right, that this asset owner could diversify, then I would come to a different conclusion.

MR. DAUBE:  Well, you answered a helpful question, but it wasn't my question.  My question wasn't about compensation.  My question was straight up whether the single-asset companies in the specific example of electricity transmitters in Ontario face increased risk as a result of a lack of diversification, separate question of compensation.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, and I think the challenge, which we discuss in the report, is that, at a transmission level, most transmission owners face a relatively similar set of risks.  Right?  You are integrated within the system operator; you're getting payments; those payments aren't really based on usage, right; you have been integrated into the system.

And so, when I look at cash flows, right, I am not convinced that there is a significant difference in the cash-flow profiles and the risks that are faced by smaller transmission asset owners and larger ones.

Even if we think about -- okay, let's image you have one line.  Right?  That line goes, is blown down.  Right?  Your regulatory process is the same as Hydro One's.  You come, you get, you know, you potentially have, you know, let's say a Z-factor that gives you recovery of costs.  Right?  It's not clear to me that, when we look at the risks that you face, right, that they are significantly different whether you are large or small.

And, ultimately, if I can build an argument that says your risk profile is dramatically different, then I would accept the idea that, you know, an application should be made for differential treatment with regards to cost of capital.  But I haven't been able to construct a meaningful circumstance for transmission, right, where diversification produces dramatically different risk profiles.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Let's talk specifically about -- and thank you for that.  Let's talk specifically about Indigenous participation in this space.  Do you agree that many, if not most, of single-asset electricity transmission companies in Ontario have been designed in part to facilitate Indigenous equity participation?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Do you agree that many single-asset electricity transmission companies in Ontario already have some degree of Indigenous equity participation?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Is it fair to say that single-asset electricity transmission companies have the potential to increase Indigenous equity participation in Ontario's energy sector?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Can we go to page 143 of your report, please, and it will be the very bottom of the page.  So, at the very bottom of the page, there is a section that says "Recommendations."  Thank you.  That's it.

Now, first line of your recommendations, you cite the OEB's rationale from 2006 as highly influential towards your recommendations.  Is that fair to say?

MR. GOULDING:  We don't say "highly influential."  We say "also applies."

MR. DAUBE:  I am sorry.  You're right.  You reference the 2006 OEB reasoning.  That's correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And, as a second question, it proves highly influential, if not close to determinative, on your recommendations here.  Is that correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I think I would say it a little bit differently.  If we didn't agree with it, we would say so. Right?  In other words, the fact in and of itself that the reasoning provided was provided by OEB in 2006 wouldn't cause us to simply apply it here.

In this particular case, we agree with it, and so we adopt it, but that isn't necessarily the case in all aspects.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Here is the main point.  When we are comparing life in 2024 to life in 2006, given the various points of agreement we had on the state of Indigenous equity participation in these projects, would you agree that there is far more Indigenous equity participation in single-asset electricity transmission companies in 2024 than there was in 2006?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  You'll also agree that Ontario's energy sector is far more accepting and supportive of the goals of reconciliation in 2024 than it was in 2006?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Will you agree that, if the OEB wishes to increase opportunities for Indigenous equity participation in the energy sector, that that objective would serve as a consideration running counter to the recommendations you make in this section?

MR. GOULDING:  Not necessarily.  Now, again, I don't speak as a lawyer, and so I really want to caveat that.

MR. DAUBE:  You're lucky that you don't speak as a lawyer.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I am sure.  But I would say that this is not the only way that the OEB could encourage those objectives.

MR. DAUBE:  Not the only way, one way.

MR. GOULDING:  I get back to my point that we can't accomplish every worthy policy objective through a generic proceeding.  And, you know, my concern is actually it doesn't do the challenges justice.  Right?  I would like to understand:  What's the trade-off, for example, between de-risking a project by encouraging equity participation by particular First Nations groups, and the challenges that historically groups that have been unable to accumulate capital over time through discrimination?  Right?  Do we solve that through a cost of capital proceeding?  Do we solve it through setting up a separate fund that will loan money to buy in the equity, and we do that off the backs of the -- not the backs -- off of the hearts of all taxpayers or ratepayers?

I think these are important considerations that are best addressed in a separate proceeding.  What we are trying to do here is identify the way in which the ability to raise capital and to compensate for risks is impacted by the generic cost of capital proceeding.  And so, I think that this is the starting point, not the ending point with regards to particular conversations like this.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, thank you.  Let's -- this is my last full chapter and then just a couple of general questions.  So, your report, please, at pages 166 to 168 addresses your recommendations on construction work in progress.  My handwriting is slow and basically illegible even to me, so I tried to get down what you said in your direct here, I just want to confirm that I am characterizing it fairly.

So, you had a few helpful comments in your direct on this issue.  You noted that in this section of your report, and I assume that you were referring to page 168, if we could just pull that page up.  Sorry, 168.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  So, you noted that you considered the weighted average cost of capital in this section of your report; that's right, you said that this morning?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And you said -- you recommended another option based on precedent and simplicity; is that fair, that's what you said?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  But you also said that WACC is consistent, in your view, with the fair return standard; right?

MR. GOULDING:  So, let me elaborate a little bit on that because my concern is particularly with regards to multi-year projects and the challenge becomes when you, when you say -- let's say, for example, you had something where you said for a one-year project you are going to get the Canada mid-term bond index all corporate yield, but for projects beyond one year you'd get construction work in progress -- sorry, you'd get the weighted average cost of capital.  And then you'd have to worry are people going to magically develop projects that take one year and one day to complete so you get the WACC rather than the bond rate.  But leaving that aside --

MR. DAUBE:  I am just conscious of time, can I ask it a different way and if you want to continue with the answer you can.  I took you to be saying there's nothing, devil's in the details, and we can get into those details perhaps if it's helpful.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  But there's nothing on its face about an approach based on WACC that, on its face to you, is at odds with the fair return standard?

MR. GOULDING:  I would agree with that.  I have the slight issue in terms of the length of the project, you know, the one year versus the longer.  But I would agree with you in general, particularly for longer projects, there's nothing on its face that says applying the weighted average cost of capital would violate the fair return standard.

MR. DAUBE:  And which of these three approaches is reasonably chosen would you agree is going to be based on the details, the details of implementation, plus or as well as the relevant considerations that are prioritized by the decision maker; is that fair?

MR. GOULDING:  I apologize, could you ask the question again so that I --


MR. DAUBE:  Yes, maybe I will phrase it better with the second attempt.  You'll agree that the reasonable choice out of the options available -- or better put, whether or not WACC is the reasonable approach is going to depend on two things, details of implementation and the considerations that the decision maker in play is trying to prioritize; is that fair?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. DAUBE:  You'll agree that one such consideration that a decision maker could prioritize could be the promotion of First Nation and Indigenous equity participation?  There's no reason why -- you could agree it's a good idea, you can disagree it's a bad idea, there can be a thousand countervailing considerations which I don't think we need to go through.  But the promotion of First Nation equity participation, conceivably, could be a consideration that could help to support the selection of WACC as an approach?

MR. GOULDING:  I think the only reason that I would differ with you slightly gets back to my view that cost of capital proceeding we should ground our arguments in essentially in the FRS, right.  And we may come to different views about where that leads us,  but that it's really about the FRS.

Now, there may be additional benefits that occur that would augment or lead you in a particular direction, but, you know, my starting point is always let's look at what actually makes sense to attract capital and provide a fair balance between risk and return.  And then if we look at those and we say, well, we have got two of these where, you know, it could be a coin toss then I would say well let's choose the one that is optimized for achieving the maximum number of policy objectives over and above achieving the fair return standard.

MR. DAUBE:  Let's turn -- sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off.  Were you finished?

MR. GOULDING:  No.  And I was going to say, and I think that this is one area where, you know, you go through a set of recommendations and you say, well, okay, we come to these conclusions.  But in this list of, you know, more than 20 recommendations, there's certainly some where we feel stronger than others, right.  In this particular case, I would say that, you know, the WACC approach, particularly for projects of more than one year, meets the FRS and may better accommodate other policy considerations.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Let's go through a few similar to the last chapter, a few factual questions for you.  Do you accept that the prescribed interest rate is often lower than the rates actually available to the project?

MR. GOULDING:  I --

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, in the context of construction work in progress in Ontario.

MR. GOULDING:  But under those circumstances the rates available to the project would apply under our recommendations.

MR. DAUBE:  What about in the case of First Nations?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I think the challenge when you take into account all of the different funding sources available, what we are trying to accomplish is simply making sure, and I recognize there is a difference of opinion as to whether this is a real problem or not, is making sure that we don't have an affiliate loaning at 9 percent when 5 percent debt is available.  That's our sole objective with that set of recommendations.

Generally our recommendation is actual, is what you pass through, provided it's from a third party, right.  If you're doing it, if you're just lending to yourself, and I am going just exaggerate for effect, right, if we just said you could passthrough any debt that you want, even if it's above the allowed cost of equity, I think that would potentially be problematic.  So, what I'd understood your question to be was that the deemed debt rate was lower than the third-party cost of debt that was available to the project.  But I don't believe there's anything in our recommendations that would say if you went out and you had, you know, money from TD or wherever that was above the deemed costs, that you wouldn't be able to pass it through.  That is certainly not our intent.

MR. DAUBE:  Do you agree that most First Nations must borrow funds in order to invest in large utility projects?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Now I am not sure I ever got -- we might have been talking past one another, so I am hoping for -- you know, these are designed to be yes or no answers, and I don't mean to constrain you.  But do you agree or you don't agree that First Nations must often borrow at a cost that is higher than the prescribed interest rate?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think I have an opinion on that, one way or the other.

MR. DAUBE:  That's fine.  So you don't know?

MR. GOULDING:  Exactly.

MR. DAUBE:  If it is the case that that's true, do you agree that providing Indigenous investors with a return consistent with the WACC prescribed by the OEB would help to mitigate or even eliminate that problem?

MR. GOULDING:  I am still troubled by the problem, in that --


MR. DAUBE:  Then I can clarify.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  In the shortfall position that First Nations would therefore find themselves in.

MR. GOULDING:  And I apologize for asking further questions, but I do want to understand this --


MR. DAUBE:  No, no, no.  Please, I want to make sure you understand the question.

MR. GOULDING:  So there is a difference between borrowing to fund your equity and debt on the project.  Right?  So what we have been saying is that the direct debt on the project, whatever the rate is on that, is a pass-through.  Right?

If I am understanding the challenge that your clients face, it's that they also need to fund the equity portion of construction.  Right?  They are not going to get the equity return until the project is placed in service, although they will receive the -- they will get recovery of their financing costs associated with it.

And the costs of financing the debt that allows you to purchase the equity is higher than what you could pass through in terms of the deemed equity -- or sorry, the deemed debt thickness.  Right?

So let's just say we are at 60-40, for example.  Right?  And so 40 percent, you went out, you got actual debt on the project, it was 5.5 percent.  And you did it through standard practices; you got three banks to bid, this is what you got.  That's fine.  That gets passed through.  Right?

But then you also had to borrow for your share of the 60 percent; maybe that's at 10 percent, right?  And, you know, you have got a problem there in terms of the disconnect.  Right?  It's kind of construction financing.

Is that where the problem is that you perceive?

MR. DAUBE:  I think I have got the answers that I need on this.  So --


MR. GOULDING:  Okay.

MR. DAUBE:  And I think we established that you didn't have firsthand knowledge of the shortfall position.  So I was just going to suggest that we move on to my final chapter, for the sake of time.

MR. GOULDING:  Fantastic.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  I am aware that I am a little bit over, just a small number of questions left regarding LEI's background as it's relevant to the questions I have been asking.  Is that fine?  Thank you.

So if we could go to LEI's CVs, which are at tab 8 of the OEA compendium?  I think we are looking for the OEA compendium from earlier in the day.  So tab 8, please.  Sorry, that's still the EDA compendium; we are looking for the OEA compendium.  Is it that first tab, appeal book and -- it is getting ready.  So can we go to tab 8, please?

I apologize.  I thought that this was LEI's resume, but this is the entire report.  Do you happen to know which tab I am looking for?

So page 176, please.  Thank you.  Okay, success.  Can we go to the fourth page, please?

I did a review of, Mr. Goulding, your CV for any matter -- no, sorry, we are still on that -- so the exact same section that we were on before.  I was just going three pages ahead, please.  Yeah, sorry.  Can we scroll down, please?  Can we go to 179, please?  There we go.  Okay.

Mr. Goulding, I went through your CV and I could find only two references to Indigenous, Aboriginal or First Nations matters.  The first one was at the top here, "Regulatory innovation", where you said that as part of work for the OEB, you assisted in advising the Board on the regulator's role in Indigenous reconciliation.  Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I do.

MR. DAUBE:  When was this mandate?

MR. GOULDING:  I believe, on the presentation slides, we have the date.

MR. PINJANI:  It was April 2023.

MR. DAUBE:  2023?

MR. GOULDING:  April 2023.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, and then, if we go to the next slide, under "Conducted independent evaluation review," we see the Aboriginal Renewable Energy Fund and work in relation to that.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Am I right that that's about 10 years ago?

MR. GOULDING:  That sounds about right.

MR. DAUBE:  And those are the only items, am I right, that reference work you've done regarding Indigenous interests; those are the only references on your CV?

MR. GOULDING:  Those are the only references on my CV, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And you'll agree that neither of those matters involve consideration of the cost-of-capital issues that are under consideration in this hearing.  Right?

MR. GOULDING:  So, I think probably two things.  I think broadly, the Aboriginal Transmission Fund and AREF certainly involved thinking about how do you raise capital, direct capital, to particular groups.  So I wouldn't, I wouldn't completely accept that characterization.

And I think the other thing I would say is that, while there are a number of issues that are specific to First Nations, when we think about the challenges that arise, right, so if you say, well, look, you know, we have got a smaller asset, we don't have a lot of historical capital, when we think about the nature of investments, small transmission investments for example or other types of small utility investments, regardless of the source of the differences, right, those kinds of questions we have looked at over and over and over again.

So it's true that those, that set of circumstances, may not have been associated with a First Nation, but the challenges from a topical perspective I would argue are similar.  They are about:  How do you attract capital; how do you manage risk; and to what extent are the circumstances of a particular investor unique?

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Mr. Pinjani, if we go to your resume, page 11 -- so this is going to be the next.  So it's going to be, ballpark, 220.  Thank you.  Can we go to 218, please.

Mr. Pinjani, the only reference I could find on your CV to Aboriginal, Indigenous, or First Nation was the same Aboriginal Renewable Energy Fund that Mr. Goulding just described.  Is that right?

MR. PINJANI:  That is correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And you agree with his descriptions that we just heard?

MR. PINJANI:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Nayak, I don't think we need to go to your resume.  I couldn't find any reference to Indigenous, First Nations, or Aboriginal on your CV.  Is that correct?

MR. NAYAK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Daube.  That will be it for today.  We will be back tomorrow at 9:30, and, everybody, try to avoid the demonstration.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:36 p.m.
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